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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE  

DISTRICT OF VERMONT 
 
CATHY WELCH, Administrator of   ) 
The Estate of G.W., R.H., T.W., T.F.  ) 
D.H., B.C., and A.L. by next friend   ) 
Norma Labounty,    ) 
  Plaintiffs,   ) 
 v.     ) Civil Action No. 5:21-CV-00283 
      ) 
KENNETH SCHATZ, KAREN SHEA, ) 
CINDY WALCOTT, BRENDA GOOLEY, ) 
JAY SIMONS, ARON STEWARD,   ) 
MARCUS BUNNELL, JOHN DUBUC, ) 
WILLIAM CATHCART, BRYAN   ) 
SCRUBB, KEVIN HATIN, NICHOLAS ) 
WEINER, DAVID MARTINEZ, CAROL ) 
RUGGLES, TIM PIETTE, DEVIN   ) 
ROCHON, AMELIA HARRIMAN,   ) 
EDWIN DALE, MELANIE D’AMICO, ) 
ERIN LONGCHAMP, CHRISTOPHER ) 
HAMLIN, and ANTHONY BRICE, all  ) 
in their individual capacities,   ) 
  Defendants.   ) 
 
 

DEFENDANTS SCHATZ, SHEA, WALCOTT, AND  
GOOLEYS’ AMENDED MOTION TO DISMISS 

 
 Defendants Kenneth Schatz, Karen Shea, Cindy Walcott, and Brenda Gooley move per 

V.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) to dismiss Plaintiffs’ complaint against them. Plaintiffs, former residents of a 

juvenile detention and treatment center, contend that Defendants, former and current government 

officials, violated their constitutional rights and committed common law torts in connection with 

abuse they allegedly suffered while detained at the center. But because Plaintiffs have failed to 

allege these Defendants’ personal involvement and overcome the presumption they were 

exercising professional judgment, these supervisory officials cannot be held liable. Additionally, 

Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim for relief with respect to several counts. And as a result, 
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Plaintiffs’ claims against Schatz, Shea, Walcott, and Gooley should be dismissed. 

Background 

 Plaintiffs are former residents of Vermont’s Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center 

(Woodside) in the town of Essex. During that time the Department for Children and Families 

(the Department) operated Woodside as a residential treatment facility that provided in-patient 

psychiatric, mental health, and substance abuse services in a secure setting.1 Woodside accepted 

adolescents who had been adjudicated or charged with a delinquency or criminal act.2 

 But before 2011, and the events of this matter, Woodside was run solely as a secure 

detention and treatment facility for youthful offenders.3 Reflecting this original role, and as the 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint notes, Woodside has the appearance and layout of a prison. 

 Up until its closure in 2020, and throughout the Plaintiffs’ respective time there, 

Woodside was Vermont’s only locked-door juvenile facility. Hospitals could provide involuntary 

treatment—but at their discretion. Woodside, on the other hand, could not turn away residents—

the only limit being the age of the potential resident.4 As a result, Woodside had to take in the 

highest needs youths involved in the juvenile justice system even if Woodside could not meet the 

needs of those youths.5 

 
1 33 V.S.A. § 5801(a) (2018) (repealed Jul. 1, 2021) (“The Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center in 
the town of Essex shall be operated by the Department for Children and Families as a residential 
treatment facility that provides in-patient psychiatric, mental health, and substance abuse services in a 
secure setting”). 
2 Id. 
3 2011 Vermont Laws, No. 3 (eff. Feb. 17, 2011) (amending 33 V.S.A. § 5801) ((“The Woodside juvenile 
rehabilitation center in the town of Essex shall be operated by the department for children and families 
solely as a secure detention and treatment facility for juvenile offenders.”) (emphasis added)).  
4 See e.g. 33 V.S.A. § 5801(d) (2018). 
5 See Ex. A, Ltr. frm. DCF Defs. Schatz & Shea to RLSIU, Nov. 16, 2018 (“Woodside is specifically 
exempt from the application of Rule 5.08, which provides: A Residential Treatment Program shall accept 
and serve only those children/youth whose needs can be met by the services provided by the program. 
Woodside is exempt from this rule as an acknowledgement that it is the only program in the state that 
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 Defendant Kenneth Schatz was the Commissioner of the Department from September 

2014 through June 2020. Within the Department, Defendant Cindy Walcott served as Deputy 

Commissioner with the Family Services Division up until June 2016. She then retired from 

regular service and worked as a temporary employee from July 2016 through September 2019, as 

Senior Policy and Operations Manager with the Family Services Division. Defendant Karen 

Shea was also a Deputy Commissioner, and Walcott’s successor to the Family Services Division, 

serving from July 2016 to June 2019.  And Defendant Brenda Gooley worked in the Department 

as the Family Services Division Director of Operations throughout the relevant 2016 to 2020 

period. 

 Plaintiffs have now sued the Commissioner, Deputy Commissioners, and Director 

(collectively, the Officials), among many others, in their personal capacities for alleged abuse 

Plaintiffs suffered while residents at Woodside from 2016 to 2020. Plaintiffs’ claims, in general, 

assert alleged instances of confinement, restraint, treatment, and punishment. Plaintiffs argue that 

these claimed abuses amount to constitutional violations entitling them to relief under 42 U.S.C. 

§§ 1983, 1985, as well as common-law torts. 

 In their original complaint, Plaintiffs nominally asserted a total of 12 counts. In response 

to several motions to dismiss filed by the 22 named defendants, Plaintiffs filed an amended 

complaint. This new complaint contains 9 counts. Like the original complaint though, these  

counts are overlapping and contain multiple causes of action. These listed counts are:  

 
cannot reject youth for admission.”). 

This letter is cited by Plaintiffs in their complaint. As a result, it (along with several other documents 
relied on by Plaintiffs and attached here as exhibits) can be properly considered without the need for the 
Court to convert this motion to dismiss to one for summary judgment. See Levy v. Southbrook Inter. 
Investments, Ltd., 263 F.3d 10, 13, n.3 (2d Cir. 2001); see also Kaplan v. Morgan Stanley & Co., Inc., 
2009 VT 78, ¶ 10, n. 4, 186 Vt. 605, 987 A.2d 258. 
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(1) § 1983 violation of the Eighth Amendment’s ban on cruel and unusual 
punishment; 

(2) § 1983 violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments’ ban on the use 
of excessive force;  

(3) § 1983 deprivation of Plaintiffs’ right to due process of law as guaranteed 
by the Fourteenth Amendment; 

(4) § 1983 deliberate indifference to violations of Plaintiffs’ rights perpetrated 
by staff members at the Natchez Trace Youth Academy; 

(5) § 1983 violation of R.H. and T.F.s’ First Amendment right to petition the 
government for a redress of grievances; 

(6) § 1983 supervisory liability; 
(7) assault and battery; 
(8) intentional infliction of emotional harm; and 
(9) gross negligence and reckless supervision of persons in their custody and 

control. 

Legal Standard 

Under Rule 12(b)(6), a complaint or any portion thereof may be dismissed at any time 

when it is apparent from the face of the pleadings that the plaintiff has failed to state a claim 

upon which relief can be granted. In evaluating motions under Rule 12(b)(6), courts are “not 

bound to accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation.”6 A complaint must 

“state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”7 This means that the complaint must plead 

“factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable 

 
6 Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 
(2007)). 
7 Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570. 
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for the misconduct alleged.”8  

Discussion 

 Accepting Plaintiffs’ well plead allegations as true, they have failed to make their case 

for the Officials’ liability. First, the Officials’ exercise of professional judgment entitles them to 

good-faith immunity barring Plaintiffs’ claims of Fourteenth Amendment Due Process violations 

(Count 3). Second, Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim in regard to the Officials’ alleged 

deliberate indifference to excessive force (Counts 2 & 4). Third, Plaintiffs have failed to plead 

the Officials’ personal involvement for alleged violations of the ban on cruel and usual 

punishment and the ban on excessive force; nor does the law permit § 1983 supervisory liability 

(Counts 1, 2, 4, 6). Fourth, absolute immunity shields the Officials from Plaintiffs’ common law 

torts (Counts 7 & 9). Fifth, given the Plaintiffs were not criminal convicts, they have failed to 

state a claim for violations of the Eighth Amendment (Counts 1, 2, 4, 6). And sixth, the Estate of 

G.W.’s claims did not survive G.W.’s death (Counts 1-3, 6-9).          

1. The Officials’ exercise of professional judgment shields them from liability for alleged 
Fourteenth Amendment violations. 

 In Count 3 of their Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that the Officials9 violated their 

Fourteenth Amendment Due Process rights in that they confined, restrained, treated, and 

punished Plaintiffs. These alleged acts, Plaintiffs contend, deprived them of their protected 

liberty interest, entitling them to relief under § 1983. 

 In Youngberg v. Romeo, the U.S. Supreme Court held that as with convicted criminals, 

individuals involuntarily committed have a protected Due Process liberty interest in being free 

 
8 Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678. 
9 This count is not directed to the Officials alone. 
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from bodily restraint.10 But while Youngberg Court recognized this right, it cautioned that the 

right is “not absolute.”11 In operating institutions, the Court explained, “there are occasions 

where it is necessary for the state to restrain the movement of residents.”12 For example, restraint 

is often needed to protect not only the residents but others as well from violence.13 As a result, 

the question is not whether a liberty interest has been infringed, but rather, whether the extent of- 

or nature of- the restraint is a constitutional violation of a due process.14 

 To make this assessment, one must balance “the liberty of the individual and the demands 

of organized society.”15 That said, “[i]f there is to be any uniformity to protecting these 

interests”—“this balancing cannot be left to the unguided discretion of a judge or jury.”16 Thus, 

per Youngberg, “the Constitution requires only that Courts make certain that professional 

judgment in fact was exercised.”17 In other words, it is not for the courts to decide which 

professional acceptable choices should have been made.18 

 In announcing this standard, the Youngberg Court acknowledged that persons who have 

been involuntarily committed are entitled to more considerate treatment and conditions of 

confinement than criminals (whose conditions of confinement are meant to punish).19 

Nevertheless, the standard the state must meet to justify restraints or conditions of less than 

 
10 Youngberg v. Romeo, 457 U.S. 307, 315-16 (1982). 
11 Id., 457 U.S. at 319-20. 
12 Id., 457 U.S. at 320. 
13 Id. 
14 Id. 
15 Id. 
16 Id., 457 U.S. at 321. 
17 Id. (emphasis added). 
18 Id. (emphasis added). 
19 Id., 457 U.S. at 321-22. 
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absolute safety are “lower than compelling or substantial.”20 Using those tests would place too 

undue a burden on administering institutions and unnecessarily restrict the exercise of 

professional judgment.21  

 So, the Court mandated that interference by the federal judiciary with the internal 

operations of these institutions should be minimized.22 And the Court explained that there is no 

reason to think that judges or juries are better qualified than the appropriate professionals in 

making such decisions.23 

 Finally, the Youngberg Court also held that in an action for damages against a 

professional in their individual capacity—“the professional will not be liable if he was unable to 

satisfy his normal professional standards because of budgetary constraints.”24 In that situation, 

the Court elucidated, good-faith immunity would also bar liability.25 

A. The policies and procedures that led to the confinement and restraint Plaintiffs 
complain-of show that professional judgment was used. 

 Presently, per Youngberg, for Plaintiffs’ claims that they were confined, restrained, etc. to 

survive, they must overcome the presumption that the Officials exercised professional judgment. 

Plaintiffs have failed, however, to allege sufficient facts to overcome that presumption. 

 First, Plaintiffs have failed to allege (and cannot in any event) sufficient facts to show 

 
20 Id., 457 U.S. at 322. 
21 Youngberg, 457 U.S. at 322. See also P.C. v. McLaughlin, 913 F.2d 1033, 1039 (2d Cir. 1990) (“The 
doctrine nicely balances the need to provide redress when an official abuses his or her public office 
against the costs of compelling government officials to shoulder the burden of defending themselves 
against suit. These costs include deterring individuals from accepting public employment, inhibiting 
officials in the discharge of their duties, diverting employees' energies from public duties and forcing 
them to bear the expense of litigation.”). 
22 Youngberg, 457 U.S. at 322. 
23 Id., 457 U.S. at 323. 
24 Id. 
25 Id. 
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that the policies at Woodside regarding seclusion and restraint were not based on the exercise of 

professional judgment.  

 Rather, Plaintiffs appear to acknowledge that professional judgment was used in that they 

cite to the system of control tactics used at Woodside.26 Yet as the Youngberg Court admonished, 

it is not for the courts to decide whether the best course was taken. Indeed, that the Officials 

exercised professional judgment is reflected in that Woodside had licenses to operate.27  

 Per 33 V.S.A. § 306(b) the Department is responsible for the promulgation of standards 

governing the regulation of residential treatment programs for children and youths. These 

standards require, among other things, that a: 

Residential Treatment Program shall ensure children/youth the following rights:  
 • to be  served under humane conditions with respect for their dignity and  
  privacy; 
 • to receive services that promotes their growth and development; 
 • to receive gender specific, culturally competent and linguistically  
  appropriate service; 
 • to receive services in the least restrictive and most appropriate   
  environment; 
 • to access written information about the providers policies and procedures 

 
26 Pls. Compl. at ¶ 48. 
27 See Ex. B, 2015-2016 Lic.; Ex. C, 2016-2017 Lic. The Plaintiffs do not reference these licenses in their 
Complaint. Nonetheless it is settled that materials that are a matter of public record may be considered in 
a motion to dismiss. See Byrd v. City of New York, No. 04-1396-CV, 2005 WL 1349876, at * 1 (2d Cir. 
Jun. 8, 2005) (citing Blue Tree Hotel Inv. (Can.), Ltd. v. Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Inc., 369 
F.3d 212, 217 (2d Cir.2004) (stating that courts “may also look to public records, including complaints 
filed in state court, in deciding a motion to dismiss”); Kramer v. Time Warner, Inc., 937 F.2d 767, 774 
(2d Cir.1991) (noting that documents filed with the court are subject to judicial notice, and affirming Rule 
12(b)(6) dismissal of securities fraud case where the district court considered documents filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission without expressly taking judicial notice of them); Cowen v. Ernest 
Codelia, P.C., No. 98 Civ. 5548, 2001 WL 856606, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. July 30, 2001) (citing court of 
appeals cases in explaining that court may consider public documents on Rule 12(c) motion based on res 
judicata to determine whether claims are barred by prior litigation)). See also Kaplan, 2009 VT 78, ¶ 10, 
n. 4, (“it is well settled that, in ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, courts may properly consider 
matters subject to judicial notice, such as statutes and regulations, and matters of public record”) (citing 
Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 322, 127 S.Ct. 2499, 168 L.Ed.2d 179 (2007) 
(in ruling on a motion to dismiss, “courts must consider the complaint in its entirety, as well as ... 
documents incorporated into the complaint by reference, and matters of which a court may take judicial 
notice”)). 
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  that pertain to  the care and supervision of children, including a  
  description of behavior management practices; 
 • to be served with respect for confidentiality; 
 • to be involved, as appropriate to age, development and ability, in   
  assessment and service planning; 
 • to be free from harm by caregivers or others, and from unnecessary or  
  excessive use of restraint and seclusion/isolation; 
 • to file complaints and grievances without fear of retaliation.28 

 

In furtherance of these rights, the regulations prescribe exhaustive rules regarding medical care,29 

behavior management,30 physical restraint,31 seclusion,32 documentation,33 and restraint and 

seclusion monitoring.34 Additionally, these regulations also cover the physical environment and 

safety, including sleeping areas, and seclusion rooms.35 And under these regulations, a program 

cannot operate without a license from the Department’s Residential Licensing Unit.36  

 That the Residential Licensing Unit granted Woodside licenses shows that Woodside had 

in place the policies and procedures required to operate the institution. Additionally, the licenses 

show that in the areas where the licensing authority found compliance issues—Woodside and its 

leadership were taking the necessary corrective action.37 That the instances of restraint, 

seclusion, etc. complained of arose under these policies is immaterial.   Having secured a license 

 
28 Vt. Admin. Code 12-3-508:201. 
29 Vt. Admin. Code 12-3-508:633-636. 
30 Id. at 648-649. 
31 Id. at 650-657. 
32 Id. at 658-666. 
33 Id. at 667-669. 
34 Id. at 670. 
35 Vt. Admin. Code 12-3-508:700 Physical Environment and Safety. 
36 Vt. Admin. Code 12-3-508:101 (“A Residential Treatment Program shall not be operated without the 
formal prior approval of the Department for Children and Families, Residential Licensing Unit (hereafter 
“Licensing Authority”).”). 
37 See Ex. B, 2015-2016 Lic. at p. 15-21; Ex. C, 2016-2017 Lic. at p. 14-15. 
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to operate after an exhaustive assessment by the RLI, it would be impossible for Plaintiffs to 

establish that the Officials did not exercise professional judgment. 38 

 All the Constitution requires is that there was some professional judgment exercised. And 

here the Plaintiffs have failed to allege any facts showing no professional judgment was 

exercised.  

B. Because Woodside could not refuse admission regardless of a person’s needs, the 
Officials lacked viable alternatives. 

 Second, in addition to Plaintiffs’ failure to allege sufficient facts rebutting the 

presumption of professional judgment, Plaintiffs also overlook the practicalities at issue with 

their placement at Woodside.  

 The Constitution does not guarantee an institutionalized person the least restrictive 

environment.39 This principle comes into play here in that Woodside, regardless of whether it can 

serve their needs, was the only program in the State that cannot reject youth for admission.40 

Woodside even had an exemption from a regulation requiring residential treatment programs to 

accept only those children whose needs could be met by the program.41  

 This facet of Woodside reflected the larger issue of the lack of viable alternatives for 

many of Woodside’s residents. Woodside was a melting pot of residents with different high-level 

needs. As Plaintiffs themselves note in their complaint, per the layout and characteristics of 

 
38 That these regulations exist and by statute are promulgated by the Commissioner arguably means that 
the Commissioner and his Deputies exercised their professional judgment in any event. 
39 P.C. v. McLaughlin, 913 F.2d 1033, 1042 (2d. 1990) (citing Society for Good Will to Retarded 
Children, Inc. v. Cuomo, 737 F.2d 1239, 1249 (2d Cir. 1984)). 
40 See Ex. A, Ltr. frm. DCF Defs. Schatz & Shea to RLSIU, Nov. 16, 2018 (“Woodside is specifically 
exempt from the application of Rule 5.08, which provides: A Residential Treatment Program shall accept 
and serve only those children/youth whose needs can be met by the services provided by the program. 
Woodside is exempt from this rule as an acknowledgement that it is the only program in the state that 
cannot reject youth for admission.”) (emphasis added). 
41 See Ex. B, 2015-2016 Lic. at p. 7; Ex. C, 2016-2017 Lic. at p. 7. 
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Woodside, it was designed as a detention facility for juveniles. As cited above, in 2011, however, 

Woodside’s statute was amended, and it became a residential treatment program. Yet this 

statutory mandate did not come with a change to the layout of Woodside. Woodside was not 

originally designed and constructed for the role later foisted on it.  

 Despite these inherent limitations, Woodside nevertheless had an interest in maintaining 

order and security at the facility.42 This interest is not punitive as the Plaintiffs claim.43 Rather it 

is a valid interest even in places of civil confinement (as opposed to criminal lockups). So, while 

Plaintiffs allege instances of restraint, seclusion, or treatment that may not have been the best or 

least restrictive option given their individual treatment needs—these instances reflected the 

professional judgment of what Woodside and the Officials could offer given the collision of 

incompatible design principles, roles, and lack of alternatives. 

 In P.C. v. McLaughlin, the Second Circuit held that various Vermont state employees, 

including the Commissioner of Mental Health and various directors, assistants, and division 

chiefs were entitled to immunity on a young man’s statutory and constitutional rights violation 

claims.44  

 The Department of Mental Health had placed P.C. at Brandon Training School, “a state-

owned residential school for severely retarded individuals.”45 A later administrative hearing 

determined that P.C. did not need to be confined at Brandon because he was not a danger to 

 
42 Rosado v. Maxymillian, No. 20-3965-cv, 2022 WL 54181, at * 3 (2d Cir. 2022) (quoting Ahlers v. 
Rabinowitz, 684 F.3d 53, 61 (2d Cir. 2012)). 
43 Id. 
44 See P.C. v. McLaughlin, 913 F.2d at 1042-43 (holding that exercise of professional judgment barred 
claims against Vermont Department of Mental Health employees, including the Commissioner, for the 
placement and alleged liberty deprivations because of “the total lack of any viable alternative, and 
compelled by the necessity to provide [plaintiff] with food, shelter, clothing and medical care”). 
45 Id., 913 F.2d at 1038. 
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himself and since Brandon could not provide the appropriate level of care, treatment, and 

habilitation for him. As a result, Brandon denied P.C. admission. Nevertheless, because the 

Department of Mental Health did not have a residential placement available, P.C. remained at 

Brandon. While at Brandon, P.C. was then sexually assaulted.  

 The McLaughlin Court held that the various officials were entitled to immunity on P.C.’s 

claim that their placement of him at Brandon violated his rights. The Court explained that the 

officials’ decision to place P.C. at Brandon “was prompted by the total lack of any viable 

alternative, and compelled by the necessity to provide him with food, shelter, clothing and 

medical care.”46 Then citing Youngberg, the McLaughin Court held that the officials were 

entitled to immunity.47 

 In reaching this decision, the McLaughlin Court noted that P.C.’s life had been hard—but 

it emphasized that those hardships were not due to the various state employees’ actions.48 The 

appellate court acknowledged that it understood how the district court judge viewing the 

unfortunate scenario believed that it needed to deny the employees’ request for immunity.49 But 

at the end of the day, it is not for the court to fix the problems, only decide whether the laws 

were violated.50 

 Presently, as in McLaughlin, the Officials lacked a viable alternative and were at the 

mercy of circumstances beyond their control, i.e., budget, design, statutory obligations, etc. As a 

result, immunity bars liability for Fourteenth Amendment violations. 

 
46 Id., 913 F.2d at 1043. 
47 Id. 
48 Id. 913 F.2d at 1037. 
49 Id., 913 F.2d at 1036. 
50 Id., 913 F.2d at 1037. 
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2. There is no recognized claim for deliberate indifference to excessive force and even 
if there was, Plaintiffs’ allegations do not rise to the level of deliberate indifference. 

 The Plaintiffs contend at Count 2 of their complaint that the Officials51 were deliberately 

indifferent to excessive force used against them at Woodside. This force, Plaintiffs maintain, 

violated the Fourteenth Amendment’s ban on excessive force. Similarly, Plaintiffs also allege at 

Count 4 that the Officials were deliberately indifferent to excessive force used against them 

while they were detained at an out-of-state facility. But there are several problems with these 

claims. 

 First, § 1983 jurisprudence does not recognize an excessive-force claim based on 

deliberate indifference. Deliberate indifference applies to conditions of confinement that violate 

Due Process52. Courts do recognize a § 1983 claim for excessive force. But there are no instances 

of a court combining the two causes of action, as Plaintiffs attempt to do here.53  

 That there is no hybrid claim makes sense when one considers how it would apply to 

defendants like the Officials.  

 Excessive force § 1983 claims are directed at instances where a government actor 

purposely or knowingly uses force that was objectively unreasonable.54 These claims generally 

concern discrete affirmative events, e.g. a takedown, restraint, hold, etc. by a police officer or 

 
51 The claim of deliberate indifference to excessive force is subsumed within the stated claim of excessive 
force.  
52 See e.g. Darnell v. Pineiro, 849 F.3d 17, 29 (2d Cir. 2017) (“[a] pretrial detainee may establish a § 1983 
claim for allegedly unconstitutional conditions of confinement by showing that the officers acted with 
deliberate indifference to the challenged conditions”). 
53 See Hooks v. Atoki, 983 F.3d 1193, 1203 (10th Cir. 2020) (distinguishing claims for excessive force and 
deliberate indifference); Thompson v. Virginia, 878 F.3d 89, 98 (4th Cir. 2017) (same); Castro v. Los 
Angeles Cnty., 833 F.3d 1060, 1069 (9th Cir. 2016) (distinguishing excessive force and failure to protect 
claims); Andrews v. Neers, 253 F.3d 1052, 1059 (8th Cir. 2001) (same). 
54 See Kingsley v. Hendrickson, 576 U.S. 389, 396-97 (2015) (“we agree with the dissenting appeals court 
judge, the Seventh Circuit's jury instruction committee, and Kingsley, that a pretrial detainee must show 
only that the force purposely or knowingly used against him was objectively unreasonable”). 

Case 5:21-cv-00283-gwc   Document 68   Filed 08/11/22   Page 13 of 26



14 
 

prison guard. In other words, the act giving rise to the claim occurs without time for deliberation, 

or for the actor to report to a supervisor that he intends to use excessive force. 

 Meanwhile for an official to be at fault for deliberate indifference they must be aware of a 

substantial risk of harm and do nothing about it, i.e., an omission.55 This requirement that the 

official be aware of the risk of harm precludes an excessive force violation from also giving rise 

to a deliberate indifference claim. In almost every instance, the official cannot be aware of the 

act of excessive force before it happens. And in cases where the alleged excessive force is 

pervasive, for example restraint methods in a prison, then the claim is for violation of Fourteenth 

Amendment Due Process rights regarding conditions of confinement.56 

 But even assuming arguendo that § 1983 jurisprudence recognized a deliberate 

indifference to excessive force claim, Plaintiffs’ claims would still fail. 

 In their complaint, Plaintiffs aver that the RLSIU’s investigations found instances of 

painful compliance techniques, use of physical restraints without due course, as well as other 

issues of confinement.57 After noting that these reports were provided to the Officials, Plaintiffs 

summarily suggest that the Officials failed to do anything in response.58  

 While Plaintiffs do note that the Officials provided a letter is response to the reports, 

 
55 See generally Darnell v. Pineiro, 849 F.3d 17, 35 (2d Cir. 2017) (“to establish a claim for deliberate 
indifference to conditions of confinement under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, 
the pretrial detainee must prove that the defendant-official acted intentionally to impose the alleged 
condition, or recklessly failed to act with reasonable care to mitigate the risk that the condition posed to 
the pretrial detainee even though the defendant-official knew, or should have known, that the condition 
posed an excessive risk to health or safety”). 
56 See generally Darnell, 849 F.3d at 29 (“A pretrial detainee may establish a § 1983 claim for allegedly 
unconstitutional conditions of confinement by showing that the officers acted with deliberate indifference 
to the challenged conditions.”). 
57 Pls.’ Compl. at ¶¶ 142-47. 
58 Id. at ¶¶ 160-64. 
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Plaintiffs maintain that this response was not detailed enough.59 There are several problems with 

this characterization. 

 First, the letter itself is not the flippant brushoff Plaintiffs’ complaint suggests. Rather, 

the letter provides a detailed explanation of the nature of Woodside’s role60 as well as addressing 

the main areas of concern raised by the reports: retaliation, grievance procedure, de-escalation, 

restraint approach, the North Unit, supervision documentation, and placements.61 In fairness to 

Plaintiffs, the letter did identify some findings from the reports that the Department disagreed 

with.62 But the Department provided an 11-page table of RLSIU’s findings and Woodside/the 

Department’s responses to the same.63 Whether by mere inadvertence, or by design, however, 

Plaintiffs fail to note that the Department provided this attachment. In any event, this document 

shows that once the Department, including the Officials, were made aware of issues at 

Woodside, or at least allegations of problems, they responded. 

 Under these circumstances, it cannot be said that the Department or the Officials were 

deliberately indifferent to instances of excessive force at Woodside. 

 Deliberate indifference is the same as recklessly disregarding a risk.64 To be liable the 

official must know of and disregard an excessive risk to a person’s health and safety.65 Even then 

though, officials who actually know of a substantial risk to a person’s “health or safety may be 

found free from liability if they responded reasonably to the risk, even if the harm ultimately was 

 
59 Id. at ¶¶ 161, 163. 
60 See Ex. A, Ltr. frm. DCF Defs. Schatz & Shea to RLSIU at p. 1-2, Nov. 16, 2018. 
61 Id. at p. 2-3. 
62 Id. at p. 3. 
63 Id. (attachment). 
64 Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 836 (1994). 
65 Id., 511 U.S. at 837. 
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not averted.”66 

 Here, Plaintiffs have not even alleged facts that show they faced an excessive risk to their 

health and safety. Instead, all they have alleged are isolated instances of staff employing control 

techniques and seclusion in response to extreme behavior from the Plaintiffs.  

 But even assuming arguendo that there was an excessive risk, they still cannot show that 

such a risk was disregarded. Rather, as outlined above, once the concerns were brought to the 

Department’s attention via the RLSIU reports, the Officials responded reasonably addressing 

each issue and where necessary, indicating that action will be taken—including re-evaluating 

relevant policies.67 

 In addition to Woodside, Plaintiffs also contend the Officials were deliberately indifferent 

to instances of excessive force at Natchez Trace Youth Academy.  

 Natchez Trace is a residential treatment facility for young men in Tennessee. Per the 

complaint, D.H. & R.H. were sent by the Department to Natchez Trace. 

 In support of their claim here, Plaintiffs cite West Virginia Department of Education’s 

decision in 2015 to stop placing WV youth at Natchez Trace.68 Additionally, they aver that in 

2017, the Vermont Office of Juvenile Defender told Defendants Longchamp and D’Amico of 

abuse at the facility,69 and that in the same year, a mother of a child at Natchez told Defendants 

Schatz, Walcott, and D’Amico that her child was abused there.70 Then Plaintiffs summarily 

conclude that Schatz, Walcott, and D’Amico didn’t take the complaints seriously and placed 

 
66 Id., 511 U.S. at 844. 
67 See Ex. A, Ltr. frm. DCF Defs. Schatz & Shea to RLSIU & Attachment, Nov. 16, 2018. See also Ex. C, 
2016-2017 Lic. at p. 14. 
68 Pls.’ Compl. at ¶ 85. 
69 Id. at ¶ 171. 
70 Id. at ¶ 176. 

Case 5:21-cv-00283-gwc   Document 68   Filed 08/11/22   Page 16 of 26



17 
 

Plaintiff R.H. at Natchez Trace nonetheless.71 

 Again, assuming arguendo that the WV report establishes there was an excessive risk of 

harm to health and safety—Plaintiffs still have not alleged facts sufficient to show that the 

Defendants were aware of that risk. At most, Plaintiffs allege that the Defendants were aware of 

a single complaint from the mother and the Office of the Juvenile Defender. 

 But it is well-established that an allegation that an official ignored a letter of protest and 

request for investigation is insufficient to hold the official liable for the allegation.72 And as a 

result, Plaintiffs have failed to plead that the Officials were deliberately indifferent to excessive 

force at Natchez. 

3. Plaintiffs have failed to plead the Officials’ personal involvement. 

Plaintiffs assert several claims against the Officials that are not predicated on any action 

that these specific defendants took. To wit, at Count 4 Plaintiffs allege that “Defendants” 

secluded and restrained Plaintiffs in violation of the Eighth Amendment’s ban on cruel and 

unusual punishment. While at Count 5 they argue that “Defendants” used force in violation of 

the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments’ ban on excessive force. Plaintiffs do not allege that the 

Officials did any of the acts giving rise to these claims. Rather, it appears that Plaintiffs claim the 

Officials are liable as the supervisors of those persons who did act.  

To make out a § 1983 claim, however, a plaintiff must plead that each government 

official defendant—through the official’s own actions—has violated the Constitution.73 In other 

 
71 Id. at ¶ 175. 
72 Walters v. Hofmann, No. 1:09-cv-84, 2009 WL 6329145, at * 5 (quoting Greenwald v. Coughlin, 1995 
WL 232736, at * 8 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 19, 1995)). 
73 Tangreti v. Bachman, 983 F.3d 609, 616 (2d Cir. 2020) (quoting Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 676 
(2009)). 
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words, there is no special rule for supervisor liability.74 Instead, a plaintiff must plead and prove 

that each defendant through their own actions violated the Constitution.75 The factors necessary 

to establish a violation will necessarily vary with the Constitutional provision at issue—because 

the elements of the different Constitutional violations also vary.76 Thus, in analyzing whether a 

supervisory official can be liable for injuries inflicted by others, courts “must analyze the same 

elements that define the Constitutional tort for the direct actors.”77 

Presently, Plaintiffs have failed to plead how the Officials satisfy the elements for any of 

these alleged Constitutional violations. 

To show excessive force under the Fourteenth Amendment, a plaintiff must show that the 

defendant used force purposefully or knowingly against them that was objectively 

unreasonable.78 Yet there are no facts in the complaint that demonstrate that the Officials used 

force against the Plaintiffs—let alone being purposeful, knowing, or unreasonable. 

4. Plaintiffs’ common-law tort claims fail against the Officials. 

In addition to the nine federal law claims, Plaintiffs also assert three pendant state law 

claims. These claims are for assault and battery, and reckless supervision. But all of these tort 

claims fail due to a combination of the Officials’ absolute immunity; Plaintiffs’ failure to plead 

vicarious liability; and the Officials’ qualified immunity, along with Vermont’s Tort Claims Act. 

 
74 Id., Tangreti, 983 F.3d at 618 (“Simply put, there's no special rule of liability for supervisors. The test 
for them is the same as the test for everyone else”) (quoting Porro v. Barnes, 624 F.3d 1322, 1328 (10th 
Cir. 2010)). 
75 Id. (quoting Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 676). 
76 Id. (quoting Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 676). 
77 Stinson v. City of New York, No, 18-CV-0027, 2021 WL 3438284, at * 11 (S.D.N.Y. Jul. 6, 2021). 
78 See Kingsley v. Hendrickson, 576 U.S. 389, 396-97 (2015). 
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A. The Officials are entitled to absolute immunity. 

Absolute immunity applies to judges, legislators, and the state’s highest executive 

officers when they are acting within their respective authorities.79 

Turning to the defendant Officials, Commissioner Schatz was at all relevant times the 

highest executive officer at the Department. Thus, he is entitled to absolute immunity if he was 

acting within the scope of his authority. 

Per 3 V.S.A. § 3052, the Commissioner administers the law of the Department and 

supervises and controls all staff functions. While under 33 V.S.A. § 104, the Department is 

responsible for administering a program for youthful offenders, including secure detention and 

treatment programs.80 Plaintiffs contend that Schatz committed these torts in the placement and 

supervision of Plaintiffs at Woodside. Thus, all of these actions fall within the scope of 3 V.S.A. 

§ 3052 and 33 V.S.A. § 104. And so, Defendant Schatz is entitled to absolute immunity on these 

claims. 

In addition to Commissioner Schatz, the Deputies, Shea and Walcott, are also protected 

by absolute immunity. While these two defendants are not the highest executive at the 

Department, nonetheless, the nature of their positions and work entitle them to the same 

protection. 

In general, Department Deputies are discretionary appointments made by the 

 
79 See Levinsky v. Diamond, 151 Vt. 178, 185, 559 A.2d 1073, 1078 (1989). 
80 33 V.S.A. § 104(c) (“The Department for Children and Families, in cooperation with the Department of 
Corrections, shall have the responsibility to administer a comprehensive program for youthful offenders 
and children who commit delinquent acts, including utilization of probation services; of a range of 
community-based and other treatment, training, and rehabilitation programs; and of secure detention and 
treatment programs when necessary in the interests of public safety, designed with the objective of 
preparing those children to live in their communities as productive and mature adults.”). 
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Commissioner with the approval of the Secretary of the Agency of Human Services.81 Shea and 

Walcott, however, were appointed to the Family Services Division of the Department.  

In contrast to an ordinary Deputy, these division deputies—like the Commissioner—are 

statutorily mandatory appointments made by the Secretary with the approval of the Governor.82  

Thus, not only because they are appointed to these separate Divisions within the Department, but 

also because the nature of their appointments—Shea and Walcott are also entitled to absolute 

immunity.83 

B. Plaintiffs have failed to plead vicarious liability. 

Additionally with respect to Counts 10 & 11, and irrespective of immunity, Plaintiffs 

have failed to plead any theory of vicarious liability.  

As with the alleged constitutional violations, the Officials did not take part in any act that 

would give rise to claims for assault and battery or intentional infliction of emotional harm. 

Thus, Plaintiffs must plead some form of vicarious liability that would allow the Court to hold 

the Officials liable for the acts of others. But since Plaintiffs have not plead how the Officials are 

liable for the alleged assault and battery and intentional inflectional infliction of emotional 

distress, these claims fail. 

 
81 3 V.S.A. § 3053 (“The commissioner may, with the approval of the Secretary…(6) Appoint a deputy 
commissioner.”). 
82 Id., § 3051(c) (“For the Department for Children and Families, the Secretary, with the approval of the 
Governor, shall appoint deputy commissioners for the following divisions of the Department: (1) 
Economic Services; (2) Child Development; (3) Family Services.”). 
83 See e.g. Harlow v. State Dept. Human Srvcs., 883 N.W.2d 561, 572-73 (Minn. 2016) (holding that 
Deputy commissioner of Department of Human Services functions as a top-level cabinet-equivalent 
official and is entitled to the protection of absolute immunity from defamation claims when making 
statements within the scope of his or her statutory authority); Montgomery v. City of Philadelphia, 392 Pa. 
178, 188, 140 A.2d 100, 105 (Penn. 1958) (ruling that Deputy Commissioner of Public Property and City 
Architect are high public officials entitled to absolute immunity);      
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C. Qualified immunity and Vermont’s Tort Claims Act shield the Officials.  

Qualified immunity protects lower-level government employees from tort liability when 

they perform discretionary acts in good faith during the course of their employment and within 

the scope of their authority.84 In applying qualified immunity to state law tort claims, Vermont 

Courts use the federal objective good-faith standard.85 This standard is used to prevent exposing 

state employees to the distraction and expense in defending themselves in the courtroom.86 

Under the standard, if an official’s conduct does not violate clearly established rights of which a 

reasonable person would have known, the official is protected by qualified immunity.87 

Presently, Plaintiffs have not plead what acts the Officials took that gave rise to their 

common-law tort claims. Instead, as with the majority of their claims against them, Plaintiffs 

appear to hold the Officials liable by virtue of their supervisory roles.  

As noted above, per 33 V.S.A. § 104 the Department is responsible for administering 

secure detention programs for youthful offenders. The Commissioner in turn: is responsible for 

administering the Department, 3 V.S.A. § 3052; has the power to appoint deputies, § 3052; and 

can delegate his duties, 33 V.S.A. § 105. Thus, the Officials were in the course of their 

employment and within their scope of authority for purposes of Plaintiffs’ common-law tort 

claims.  

As for whether the Officials were performing discretionary acts, under 33 V.S.A. § 

104(b)(9), the Department “may…supervise and control children under its care and custody and  

 
84 Levisnky, 151 Vt. 178, 185, 559 A.2d 1073, 1078 (citing Libercent v. Aldrich, 149 VT, 76, 81, 539 
A.2d 981, 984 (1987)). 
85 Id., 151 Vt. at 190, 559 A.2d at 1081. 
86 Sprague v. Nally, 2005 VT 85, ¶ 4, 178 Vt. 222. 
87 Id., 151 Vt. at 190, 559 A.2d at 1081-82 (quoting Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 102 S.Ct. 2727 
(1982)). 
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provide for their care, maintenance, and education.” Given that Plaintiffs’ claims revolve around 

their alleged treatment, the Officials were also performing discretionary acts. 

Turning to the final component, good faith, for the same reasons the Officials’ 

professional judgment protects them on the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process claims, the 

Officials are protected here. As discussed above, the complaint and its incorporated facts show 

that when the Officials were made aware of alleged issues at Woodside via the RLSIU reports, 

they responded and took action to address the concerns.88 Thus, it cannot be said that the 

Officials violated clearly established rights. Instead, the record reflects that the Officials 

discharged their statutory duty to administer a secure detention program as well as their 

discretionary duty to supervise and control children under the Department’s care. And so, the 

Officials are shielded from liability by qualified immunity. 

Finally, even if the Officials’ response did not meet the good-faith standard, Plaintiffs’ 

have failed to plead how the Officials were grossly negligent.  

Gross negligence is negligence that is more than an error of judgment.89 Rather, it is a 

failure to exercise even a slight degree of care owed to another.90 In general, assessing gross 

negligence is a question of fact for the jury.91 But where reasonable minds cannot differ, the 

court may dismiss the claim.92 

In this case, as noted above, the Officials received licenses to operate Woodside from the 

RLSIU. These licenses covered the same aspects of confinement, restraint, seclusion, etc. that are 

 
88 See Ex. A, Ltr. frm. DCF Defs. Schatz & Shea to RLSIU & Attachment, Nov. 16, 2018. See also Ex. C, 
2016-2017 Lic. at p. 14. 
89 Kennery v. State, 2011 VT 121, ¶ 41, 191 Vt. 44, 64, 38 A.3d 35, 47. 
90 Id. 
91 Id. 
92 Id. 
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at issue in this matter. Meanwhile the RLSIU is the same organization whose reports the 

Plaintiffs rely on for establishing the Officials’ alleged gross negligence. As a result, it cannot be 

said that the Officials were grossly negligent, given that the same oversight authority that 

authored the reports on which Plaintiffs rely to support their claims—previously saw fit to 

license the facility.  

Furthermore, as discussed above, the Officials were not personally involved in the 

complained of acts. The only active participation that the Plaintiffs can point to, therefore, is how 

the Officials responded to the RSLIU reports.  

The Officials responded by submitting a letter outlining the issues facing Woodside as a 

whole, in addition to the 11-page spreadsheet responding to each claim and where needed to 

identifying areas for change, reevaluation, etc,93 A response of this thoroughness does not show 

the failure to exercise even a slight degree of care owed. And thus, it cannot be said that the 

Officials were grossly negligent. 

5. The Eighth Amendment does not apply to Plaintiffs.  

Counts 1, 2, 4, and 6 of Plaintiffs’ complaint invoke the Eighth Amendment’s 

protections. The Eighth Amendment, however, applies only to those convicted of a crime.94 Per 

former 33 V.S.A. § 5801, Woodside accepted adolescents who have been adjudicated or charged 

with a delinquency or criminal act.95 By law, an adjudication of delinquency is not a criminal 

 
93 See Ex. A, Ltr. frm. DCF Defs. Schatz & Shea to RLSIU & Attachment, Nov. 16, 2018. 
94 See e.g. Ingraham v. Wright, 430 U.S. 651, 664, 87 S.Ct. 1401, 1408-09 (1977) (noting that Eighth 
Amendement’s “proscription against cruel and unusual punishment confirms that it was designed to 
protect those convicted of crimes”). 
95 33 V.S.A. §5801 (eff. Jul. 1, 2018 to Jun. 30, 2021). 
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conviction.96 And juvenile proceedings are non-criminal in nature.97  

In this case, all the Plaintiffs were placed at Woodside by adjudication of delinquency or 

juvenile proceeding.98 As a result, detained juveniles are protected by the Fourteenth and not the 

Eighth Amendment.99 

Counts 1 and 4 of the Plaintiffs’ complaint should be dismissed in whole, since they rely 

on the Eighth Amendment alone. While Counts 2, 5, and 7 should be limited to the extent that 

they assert other applicable constitutional rights. 

 
96 33 V.S.A. § 5202(a)(1)(A) (“(a)(1) An order of the Family Division of the Superior Court in 
proceedings under this chapter shall not: (A) be deemed a conviction of crime”).  
97 Northern Sec. Ins. Co. v. Perron, 172 Vt. 204, 225-26, 777 A.2d 151, 166-67 (2001) (“Under Vermont 
law, a juvenile delinquency adjudication is not a violation of penal law. See 33 V.S.A. §§ 5535(a) ( “[a]n 
order of the juvenile court in proceedings under this chapter shall not be deemed a conviction of crime”); 
5501(a)(2) (purpose of juvenile proceedings is “to remove from children committing delinquent acts the 
taint of criminality and the consequences of criminal behavior and to provide a program of treatment, 
training, and rehabilitation consistent with the protection of the public interest”); In re R.S., 143 Vt. 565, 
571, 469 A.2d 751, 755 (1983) ( “[p]roceedings under the Juvenile Procedure Act are protective, not 
penal”); In re Rich, 125 Vt. 373, 375, 216 A.2d 266, 267–68 (1966) (juvenile proceeding “is a protective 
proceeding entirely concerned with the welfare of the child, and is not punitive.... The inquiry relates to 
proper custody for the child, not his guilt or innocence as a criminal offender.”); In re Hook, 95 Vt. 497, 
499, 115 A. 730, 731 (1922) (juvenile proceeding “is not penal, but protective”).”). 
98 In Re: AL, Nos. 104-3-17, 347-9-17, 353-9-17 Cnjv; In Re: BC, Nos. 48-7-13 Osjv, 56-9-16 Osjv; In 
Re: DH, Nos. 290-8-17 Cnjv, 58-10-18 Oejv; In Re: GW, No. 222-5-19 Cnjv; In Re: RH, No. 114-4-18 
Frjv; In Re: TF, No. 10-1-17 Cajv; In Re: TW, No. 29-2-18 Rdjv.  
99 See e.g. J.S.X. Through D.S.X. v. Foxhoven, 361 F. Supp. 3d 822, 830-32 (S.D. Iowa 2019) (holding 
that protections of Fourteenth Amendment due process clause, rather than of Eighth Amendment, applied 
to claims by students at Iowa institution for male juveniles who had been adjudicated delinquent, which 
alleged unconstitutional and illegal treatment practices with respect to students with significant mental 
illness; Iowa law expressly ascribed a non-penal, non-criminal nature to juvenile delinquency 
adjudications and dispositions). 
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6. Under 14 V.S.A. § 1452, the Estate of G.W.’s claims did not survive G.W.’s death. 

Per Vermont’s survival statute, 14 V.S.A. § 1452, “in an action for the recovery of 

damages for a bodily injury…if either party dies during the pendency of the action, the action 

shall survive….”100  

‘Pendency’ is not defined by the statute. But it’s meaning can be discerned from common 

sources. Per Black’s Law Dictionary, ‘pendency’ is defined as “the quality, state, or condition of 

being pending or continuing undecided.”101 Meanwhile, Merriam-Webster provides that 

‘pendency’ is “state of being pending / the pendency of the litigation.”102 

In this case, per the Complaint, G.W. died of a drug overdose in October 2021. The 

Complaint was not filed, however, until December 13, 2021.  

Thus, G.W. did not die during the pendency of this action. Or, in other words, her claims 

and the present suit were not pending at the time of her death. And as a result, per § 1452, 

G.W.’s claims did not survive her death and cannot be asserted by her Estate in this matter. 

Conclusion 

In sum, the majority of the Plaintiffs’ claims against Defendant Department of Children 

and Families Officials fail because the Plaintiffs’ have failed to plead the Officials personal 

 
100 Additionally, Vermont also has a tolling statute at 12 V.S.A. § 557, governing how long after the death 
of a person a suit may be brought by their estate. But this tolling provision is contingent upon “if the 
cause of action survives.” And whether a cause of action survives death is controlled by § 1452 above. 
101 Pendency, BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019). 
102 Pendency, MERRIAM-WEBSTER.COM DICTIONARY, https://www.merriam-
webster.com/dictionary/pendency (last visited Apr. 19 2022). 

Merriam-Webster also offers several examples, such as: “Slobodan died during pendency of the trial, 
while Karadzic and Mladic were convicted in 2016 and 2017 and are currently serving long sentences. — 
Ruti Teitel, CNN, 6 Apr. 2022; The charges were filed in 2018 and Porter argued the case’s pendency 
violated McDougall’s speedy trial rights. — Cory Shaffer, cleveland, 23 Nov. 2021; He was ultimately 
placed on house arrest during the pendency of the murder case, with several conditions including 
submitting to GPS monitoring. — BostonGlobe.com, 10 Aug. 2021.” 
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involvement in the alleged offensive acts. Furthermore, the Plaintiffs have failed to rebut the 

presumption that Officials used their professional judgment in implementing the various policies 

at Woodside that Plaintiffs contend violated their constitutional rights. And as a result, the 

Officials ask that the Court dismiss the claims against them.  

 

DATED at Springfield, Vermont, this 11th day of August, 2022. 

 
       BOXER BLAKE & MOORE PLLC 
       Attorneys for Defendants 
       Kenneth Schatz, Karen Shea, 
       Cindy Walcott & Brenda Gooley 
 
 
      By:  Andrew C. Boxer    
           Andrew C. Boxer, Esq. 
       6 Common Street 
       P.O. Box 948 
       Springfield, VT 05156 
       (802) 885-2141 
       acboxer@boxerblake.com 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE  

DISTRICT OF VERMONT 

 

CATHY WELCH, Administrator of   ) 

The Estate of G.W., R.H., T.W., T.F.  ) 

D.H., B.C., and A.L. by next friend   ) 

Norma Labounty,    ) 

  Plaintiffs,   ) 

 v.     ) Civil Action No. 5:21-CV-00283 

      ) 

KENNETH SCHATZ, KAREN SHEA, ) 

CINDY WOLCOTT, BRENDA GOOLEY, ) 

JAY SIMONS, ARON STEWARD,   ) 

MARCUS BUNNELL, JOHN DUBUC, ) 

WILLIAM CATHCART, BRYAN   ) 

SCRUBB, KEVIN HATIN, NICHOLAS ) 

WEINER, DAVID MARTINEZ, CAROL ) 

RUGGLES, TIM PIETTE, DEVIN   ) 

ROCHON, AMELIA HARRIMAN,   ) 

EDWIN DALE, MELANIE D’AMICO, ) 

ERIN LONGCHAMP, CHRISTOPHER ) 

HAMLIN, and ANTHONY BRICE, all  ) 

in their individual capacities,   ) 

  Defendants.   ) 

       

PARTIAL AND COMPLETE MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’  

AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

 Defendant Aron Steward, Ph.D., moves pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

12(b)(6) to partially dismiss Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint, while Defendant Bryan Scrubb 

moves under the same provision to completely dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims against him.  For the 

reasons set forth below, as to Dr. Steward, Counts One, Two, and Five should be dismissed 

because they fail as a matter of law and, as to Mr. Scrubb, all counts should be dismissed for 

similar reasons.1    

Background 

 In their Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs, all juveniles at the time, allege that Defendants, 

all employees or supervisors with the Department of Children and Families (“DCF”), violated 

 
1  Defendants’ Dr. Steward and Mr. Scrubb also join those motions to dismiss filed by the other defendants in 

this lawsuit.  
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both their constitutional rights and their common law rights while they were being held at 

Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center, Middlesex Adolescent Center, and the Natchez Trace 

Youth Academy in Tennessee.  Generally, Plaintiffs’ core allegation is that various Defendants 

violated Plaintiffs’ rights by allegedly formulating, administering, and enforcing policies for 

physically restraining Plaintiffs and for placing Plaintiffs in solitary confinement.    

 Beyond this core complaint, Plaintiffs’ specific allegations are complex, involving 22 

Defendants, three facilities, and multiple alleged incidents over at least a three-year period.  

Given this complexity, rather than summarize all of Plaintiffs’ allegations against all Defendants, 

this Motion to Dismiss focuses on those allegations brought against Mr. Scrubb and Dr. Steward. 

 For Mr. Scrubb, this is simple.  In their original Complaint, Plaintiffs only named him in 

the case caption and described him in the “Parties” section of the Complaint as “a staff member 

at the woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center, Essex, Vermont.”  (Complaint ¶ 18.)  In their 

Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs do not go much farther.  (Amended Complaint ¶ 33.)  Only T.W. 

and G.W. make claims against Mr. Scrubb and, as described in detail below, those general and 

unspecified claims are insufficient to allege his personal involvement.  (See Amended Complaint 

¶¶ 314–15, ¶¶ 335–40.)  Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ claims against him should be dismissed.    

 Unlike Mr. Scrubb, Plaintiffs do make some factual allegations against Dr. Steward.  She 

“was the Clinical Director at the Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center, Essex, Vermont.”  

(Id. ¶ 14.)  Although she was not responsible for formulating the policies relating to physical 

restraint and solitary confinement, (see id. ¶ 48), or indeed any policies meant to control or 

confine Plaintiffs, the Amended Complaint alleges that Dr. Steward knew of the policies and 

signed orders that approved of physically restraining and confining certain Plaintiffs.  (See id. 

¶¶  96, 123–124, 253, 260, 265, 267–269, 338, 440, 467, 470.)  Further discovery will show that 

Dr. Steward did not preapprove either the restraint or seclusion of Plaintiffs and, in fact, worked 
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diligently to ensure that all of the juveniles at Woodside received proper clinical care under the 

circumstances.  However, even accepting those allegations as true at this stage of the 

proceedings, many of Plaintiffs’ complaints against Dr. Steward should be dismissed as a matter 

of law.  Those allegations are discussed in detail below.   

Legal Analysis 

 This Court needs no reminder of the standard applicable to motions to dismiss.2  Here, as 

a matter of law, that standard requires partial dismissal of the claims against Dr. Steward and 

complete dismissal of the claims against Mr. Scrubb for three reasons: first, the Eighth 

Amendment does not apply under these circumstances; second, Plaintiffs fail to plausibly allege 

a First Amendment violation; and third and finally, Plaintiffs do not allege that Defendant 

Scrubb was personally involved in any of the claimed constitutional violations.    

I. Plaintiffs’ Eighth Amendment Claims Should Be Dismissed, As The Eighth 

Amendment Applies Only To Convicted Prisoners. 

 

Count One and Two in Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint are predicated upon alleged 

violations of the Eighth Amendment, (Amended Complaint ¶¶ 493–508), although Plaintiffs also 

refer to the Fourteenth Amendment in Count Two.  Because Plaintiffs were not prison inmates at 

the time of the alleged violation of their federal rights, any claim arising from their confinement 

 
2  To survive a motion to dismiss pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6), a complaint must “provide the grounds 

upon which [its] claim rests.” ATSI Commc'ns, Inc. v. Shaar Fund, Ltd., 493 F.3d 87, 98 (2d Cir. 2007). A plaintiff 

must also allege “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 

U.S. 544, 570 (2007); see also Fed.R.Civ.P. 8(a)(2) (pleading must contain a “short and plain statement of the claim 

showing that the pleader is entitled to relief”). “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual 

content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct 

alleged.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).   In assessing the adequacy of the pleadings, a court must 

accept all factual assertions as true and draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the plaintiff.  See Wilson v. Merrill 

Lynch & Co., Inc., 671 F.3d 120, 128 (2d Cir. 2011); ATSI Commc'ns, 493 F.3d at 98. A complaint is properly 

dismissed, where, as a matter of law, “the allegations in [it], however true, could not raise a claim of entitlement to 

relief.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 558. Conversely, this presumption of truth “is inapplicable to legal conclusions,” and 

therefore the court need not credit “[t]hreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere 

conclusory statements.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678. 
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must be asserted and evaluated under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, not 

the Eight Amendment.  See Lane v. Carpinello, No. CIVA907-CV751 GLSDEP, 2009 WL 

3074344, at *18 (N.D.N.Y. Sept. 24, 2009) (“Plaintiff's claims of failure to protect, excessive 

force, and medical indifference, all framed as arising under the Eighth Amendment, relate to 

allegedly unsafe conditions while he was involuntarily confined . . . , and must be analyzed 

within the framework of the Fourteenth Amendment.”); Dove v. City of New York, No. 03-CV-

5052 JFB LB, 2007 WL 805786, at *7 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 15, 2007) (“[B]ecause plaintiff was not a 

convicted prisoner at the time of the alleged deprivation of his federal rights, any claim arising 

from his confinement must be asserted under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment, rather than the provisions of the Eighth Amendment.”); Weyant v. Okst, 101 F.3d 

845, 856 (2d Cir. 1996) (“The rights of one who has not been convicted are protected by the Due 

Process Clause.”).  Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ Eighth Amendment Claims should be dismissed.   

II. Plaintiffs’ First Amendment Claims Should Be Dismissed Because They Fail As A 

Matter Of Law.    

 

 In Amended Count Five, Plaintiffs claim that “Defendants Simons, Steward, and Bunnell 

violated R.H. and T.F.’s First Amendment Rights to Petition the Government for a Redress of 

Grievance.”  (Amended Complaint ¶ 276.)  Although framed as the right to petition the 

government, Plaintiffs R.H. and T.F.’s claims implicate three distinct rights: the right to counsel, 

the right to access the courts, and the right to be free of retaliation for accessing the courts.  As 

described below, each of their claims based on these rights should be dismissed.   

A. Plaintiffs’ Did Not Have A Constitutional Right To Counsel In Their State Court 

Cases.   

 

First, to the extent R.H. and T.F. allege that they have a right to counsel, (Amended 

Complaint ¶ 528), such a right does not exist for the proceedings described in the Amended 
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Complaint because their alleged state court cases did not challenge their commitment in 

Woodside.   

A juvenile’s right to counsel does not fall under the First Amendment, but instead is 

founded in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  See, e.g., In re Gault, 387 

U.S. 1, 41 (1967) (requiring counsel in proceedings which may result in commitment to an 

institution in which the juvenile’s freedom is curtailed).  But that right is limited to those 

“proceedings by which a determination is made as to whether a juvenile is a ‘delinquent’ as a 

result of alleged misconduct on his part, with the consequence that he may be committed to a 

state institution.”  (Id.)  Put another way, a juvenile’s right to counsel in certain proceedings 

depends on whether the juvenile will lose their liberty in those proceedings.  Turner v. Rogers, 

564 U.S. 431, 442–43 (2011) (“[T]he pre-eminent generalization that emerges from [the 

Supreme] Court’s precedents on [the] right to appointed counsel is that such a right has been 

recognized to exist only where the litigant may lose his physical liberty if he loses the 

litigation.”)    Here, R.H. and T.F. brought protective orders apparently challenging the 

conditions of their confinement,3 not their general liberty, and so they do not have a 

constitutional right to counsel based on this precedent. 

 More importantly, even if R.H. and T.F. have a right to counsel, such a claim would fail 

because the bald fact is that R.H. and T.F. did have counsel in the proceedings.  (See Amended 

Complaint ¶ 528.)  Accordingly, any claim based on their right to counsel should be dismissed. 

 
3  The Amended Complaint describes the claims made by R.H. in Vermont Superior Court, (Amended 

Complaint ¶¶ 74–86), but does not detail T.F.’s claims at all.   
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B.  Plaintiffs Were Not Denied Access To The Courts.   

 

R.H. and T.F.’s second argument related to their right to petition the government is that 

Dr. Steward (along with other defendants) unlawfully interfered with their right to counsel.  This 

claim too should be dismissed because they have failed to adequately allege an injury. 

 “To state a valid § 1983 claim for denial of access to the courts . . . an inmate must allege 

that a defendant's deliberate and malicious interference actually impeded his access to the court 

or prejudiced an existing action.”  Cancel v. Goord, No. 00 CIV 2042 LMM, 2001 WL 303713, 

at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 29, 2001).  That means “the plaintiff must show that a non-frivolous legal 

claim had been frustrated or was being impeded due to the actions of prison officials.”  Id. 

(internal quotation marks omitted).   

As an initial matter, R.H.’s claim that Dr. Steward blocked his access both to his counsel 

and to his expert witness on one occasion on July 3, 2018 is not connected to any injury because 

he also notes that his case was filed just three days later on July 6, 2018.  (Amended Complaint 

¶¶ 285, 287); see Shine v. Hofman, 548 F. Supp. 2d 112, 118 (D. Vt. 2008) (granting motion to 

dismiss where plaintiff did not “allege that his difficulties in communicating with defense 

counsel . . . or his inability to contact witnesses caused him actual harm”). 

The only allegations that R.H. and T.F. advance that could plausibly establish prejudice 

to an existing action are their claims that Dr. Steward “pressured” both R.H. and T.F. to dismiss 

the court cases they had brought against Woodside.  (Amended Complaint ¶¶ 296–98, 420–24.)  

While T.F. does not allege any specifics beyond “pressure,” (see Amended Complaint ¶¶ 416,  

422–424), R.H. also claims that Dr. Steward asked questions about a complaint that he had filed, 

(id. ¶ 289), praised R.H. for declining to meet with state investigators about an assault on another 
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Woodside resident,4 (id. ¶¶ 290–92), and promised to reward R.H. if he dropped his case.  (Id. 

¶ 294.)   

 But the mere claim that they were pressured into dismissing a court case is not sufficient 

to survive a motion to dismiss.  Instead, “the underlying cause of action, whether anticipated or 

lost, is an element that must be described in the complaint, just as much as allegations must 

describe the official acts frustrating the litigation.”  Christopher v. Harbury, 536 U.S. 403, 415 

(2002).  Following this precedent, this court has dismissed a plaintiff’s claim that his access to 

the courts was impeded when the complaint suggested “only in conclusory fashion that 

‘meritorious’ claims have been prejudiced.”  Bain v. Hofman, No. 2:08 CV 110, 2009 WL 

959978, at *5 (D. Vt. Apr. 3, 2009).  Here, although R.H.’s claims are described in general, 

(Amended Complaint ¶¶ 74–86), nothing suggests R.H’s claims were nonfrivolous or otherwise 

meritorious.  Id.  T.F.’s court case is not even described at all, let alone with sufficient 

particularity to judge whether it was meritorious.  See Cancel, 2001 WL 303713, at *4 (“[I]n 

order to survive a motion to dismiss a plaintiff must allege . . . the defendant’s actions resulted in 

actual injury to the plaintiff such as the dismissal of an otherwise meritorious legal claim.”).   

Moreover, just as with their claim that they were denied counsel, the fact that R.H. and 

T.F. had appointed counsel undercuts any claim that they were injured by Dr. Steward’s 

supposed attempts to impede their access to the courts.  See McGee v. Gold, No. 1:05-CV-231, 

2006 WL 1394032, at *2 (D. Vt. May 17, 2006) (concluding that, because plaintiff had 

“appointed counsel,” among other factors, the plaintiff “[could] not show the type of injury 

required for a denial of access to courts claim”); Bourdon v. Loughren, 386 F.3d 88, 99 (2d Cir. 

2004) (“[T]he fact that [plaintiff] was represented by counsel—professional legal assistance 

 
4  It is not clear how Dr. Steward’s alleged comments regarding R.H.’s information about another resident 

affected R.H.’s own access to the courts.  
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provided at the government’s expense—and that [plaintiff] has not demonstrated that he was 

hindered from pursuing a particular legal claim, established constitutionally acceptable access to 

the courts.”).  

Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ claims that Dr. Steward impeded their access to the courts should 

be dismissed.  

C.  Plaintiffs Do Not Plausibly Allege That Dr. Steward Retaliated.   

 

 Finally, Plaintiffs’ retaliation claim also fails because they do not allege any retaliatory 

acts by Dr. Steward other than supposed verbal threats and promises. 

 To establish a prima facie case of First Amendment retaliation, Plaintiffs must 

demonstrate: “(1) that the speech or conduct at issue was protected, (2) that [Defendants] took 

adverse action against [Plaintiffs], and (3) that there was a causal connection between the 

protected speech and the adverse action.”  Gill v. Pidlypchak, 389 F.3d 379, 380 (2d Cir. 2004) 

Notably, claims involving prisoners or other persons in custody should be approached “with 

skepticism and particular care, because virtually any adverse action taken against a prisoner by a 

prison official—even those otherwise not rising to the level of a constitutional violation—can be 

characterized as a constitutionally proscribed retaliatory act.”  Davis v. Goord, 320 F.3d 346, 352 

(2d Cir. 2003) (internal quotation marks omitted). 

 Here, R.H. and T.F.’s allegations do not satisfy the second element because, at most, Dr. 

Steward’s alleged retaliatory acts were verbal threats unaccompanied by any threat of physical 

injury.  Specifically, they claim that they were pressured to drop their court cases and that Dr. 

Steward promised to reward them if they did so.  (Amended Complaint ¶¶ 294–98; 420–24.) 

Even if R.H. and T.F. specifically described this verbal pressure – which they do not – verbal 

warnings unaccompanied by physical threats are not sufficient to state a Section 1983 claim. 

Whitehead v. Rozum, No. CIV.A. 09-220J, 2010 WL 3885651, at *2 (W.D. Pa. Aug. 31, 2010) 
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(recommending that motion to dismiss be granted because “[p]laintiff makes several allegations 

that he was ‘threatened’ and ‘pressured’ to stop pursuing his appeal . . . Allegations of verbal 

threats, unaccompanied by any allegation of physical injury, do not state a Section 1983 claim.”); 

Ramirez v. Holmes, 921 F. Supp. 204, 210 (S.D.N.Y. 1996) (“Allegations of threats or verbal 

harassment, without any injury or damage, do not state a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.”);  

Jermosen v. Coughlin, 878 F.Supp. 444, 449 (N.D.N.Y.1995) (“Although indefensible and 

unprofessional, verbal threats or abuse are not sufficient to state a constitutional violation 

cognizable under § 1983.”).   

 Because Plaintiffs’ fail to allege an adverse action, Plaintiffs’ First Amendment claims 

based on Dr. Steward’s alleged retaliation must be dismissed.   

III. All Of Plaintiffs’ Claims Against Defendant Bryan Scrub Should Be Dismissed For 

Lack of Personal Involvement.  

 

 Finally, all of the claims brough against Defendant Bryan Scrubb should be dismissed 

because Plaintiffs fail to allege Mr. Scrubb was personally involved in the constitutional 

violations.   

 In order to succeed on a Section 1983 claim for a constitutional violation, “a plaintiff 

must plead that each Government-official defendant, through the official’s own individual 

actions, has violated the Constitution.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 676 (2009); see also 

Raspardo v. Carlone, 770 F.3d 97, 115 (2d Cir. 2014) (“If a defendant has not personally 

violated a plaintiff's constitutional rights, the plaintiff cannot succeed on a § 1983 action against 

the defendant.”)  

 In their original Complaint, Plaintiffs made no claim at all against Mr. Scrubb, describing 

him only once in the body of the Complaint.  Their claims in the Amended Complaint do not go 

much further.  Plaintiffs first broadly allege that Mr. Scrubb – along with all of the other named 
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defendants – either directly participated in the alleged physical abuse and solitary confinement of 

Defendants, or failed to protect Plaintiffs.  (Amended Complaint ¶ 33.)  Becoming slightly more 

specific, Plaintiff T.W. claims that Mr. Scrubb, along with Defendants Cathcart, Hamlin, 

Bunnell, and Dubuc requested orders for restraint and/or seclusion and he also alleges that Mr. 

Scrubb, as well as twelve other defendants, carried out those orders on 10 dates ranging from 

February 11, 2018 to May 25, 2018.  (Id. ¶¶ 314–15.)  No attempt is made in the Amended 

Complaint to link Mr. Scrubb (or any of the other defendants) to specific incidents or, more 

importantly, to describe the incidents and whether any injury arose from the incidents.  Likewise, 

Plaintiff G.W. asserts that Mr. Scrubb – along with 10 other defendants – either participated in, 

observed, or failed to intervene in the unnecessary restraint of G.W. on 31 occasions.  (Id. 

¶¶ 335–40.)  As with T.W.’s claims, these 31 incidents are not linked to specific defendants, nor 

are they described with any sort of particularity.   

 These broad and unspecified allegations are not sufficient to allege Mr. Scrubb’s personal 

involvement.  The allegations do not describe the circumstances surrounding these incidents, nor 

do they describe Mr. Scrubb’s specific involvement including whether he observed or 

participated in the incidents.  Nor do they describe when precisely T.W. or G.W. were physically 

restrained or secluded.  Nor, in fact, do they describe whether they were physically restrained or 

placed in seclusion by Mr. Scrubb as opposed to another defendant.  The allegations in short, are 

not sufficient to plausibly state a claim against Mr. Scrubb and should be dismissed.  See 

Bridgewater v. Taylor, 832 F. Supp. 2d 337 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (dismissing prisoner’s § 1983 claim 

for failure to protect where defendant did not participate in, and had no other connection to, 

initial altercation and she was not present at all when second alleged altercation occurred); 

Canales v. Sheahan, No. 12-CV-693(LJV)(HBS), 2017 WL 1164462, at *4 (W.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 

2017) (“Plaintiff's allegations fall short because the facts alleged indicate that [Defendant] was 
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not actually present during an assault or incident, nor that [Defendant] was aware of any specific 

assault or on notice that one might occur.”);  

 Lane v. Carpinello, No. CIVA907-CV751 GLSDEP, 2009 WL 3074344, at *21 

(N.D.N.Y. Sept. 24, 2009) (granting summary judgment where “[t]here [was] no evidence in the 

record that plaintiff was physically touched or in any way injured as a result of this incident”).     

IV. Conclusion.  

 

For the reasons discussed above, Counts One, Two, and Five brought against Dr. Steward 

should be dismissed because they fail as a matter of law and, as to Mr. Scrubb, all counts should 

be dismissed for the same reason.    

 

Dated at Burlington, Vermont this 15th day of August, 2022.  

 

      ARON STEWARD, Ph.D., and  

BRYAN SCRUBB 

 

By: /s/ Devin T. McKnight     

Devin T. McKnight, Esq.  

Ian P. Carleton, Esq. 

SHEEHEY FURLONG & BEHM P.C. 

30 Main Street, 6th Floor 

P.O. Box 66 

 Burlington, VT  05402-0066 

 (802) 864-9891 

 dmcknight@sheeheyvt.com  

 icarleton@sheeheyvt.com  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE  

DISTRICT OF VERMONT 
 
CATHY WELCH, Admin. of the Estate of 
G.W., et al., 
  Plaintiffs 
 
 v.  
 
KENNETH SCHATZ, et al., 
  Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)

Case 5:21-cv-283-gwc 
 
 

Defendants Christopher Hamlin and 
Anthony Brice’s  

Motion to Dismiss the Amended 
Complaint 

 
Defendants Christopher Hamlin and Anthony Brice (collectively, Hamlin and Brice) move 

to dismiss the Amended Complaint (Doc. 65) against them. The Amended Complaint fails to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND1 

On a motion to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), a court must accept all “well-pleaded 

factual allegations” in the complaint as true and construe all reasonable inferences that can be 

drawn from the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Lynch v. City of N.Y., 952 

F.3d 67, 74–75 (2d Cir. 2020). Conclusory allegations, unsupported by factual allegations, are 

not entitled to the assumption of truth. Francis v. Kings Park Manor, Inc., 992 F.3d 67, 72 (2d 

Cir. 2021) (en banc). 

Plaintiffs are or were juveniles “detained” at facilities operated by the Vermont Department 

for Children and Families (DCF): Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center (Woodside) and the 

Middlesex Adolescent Center.2 (Am. Compl. (Doc. 65) pp. 1–2).  

 
1 This action was started by Summons and Complaint dated December 13, 2021. All defendants filed 

motions to dismiss dated April 25, 2022. By agreement of the parties, Plaintiffs were permitted to file an 
Amended Complaint, which they did on June 28, 2022. Without waiver of any argument in Hamlin and 
Brice’s motion to dismiss the original Complaint (which was never opposed), this motion seeks dismissal 
of the Amended Complaint. 

2 The Amended Complaint also refers to the Middlesex facility as the “Middlesex Adolescent 
Program” or “MAP.” (Am. Compl. ¶ 474).  
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There are seven individual Plaintiffs and 22 individual defendants. (Am. Compl. p. 1). The 

only factual allegations in the Amended Complaint mentioning Defendant Hamlin or Defendant 

Brice are as follows: 

General Allegations 

 Hamlin and Brice were employed by DCF at all times relevant to the Amended 
Complaint. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 28, 29). 

 Defendants Schatz, Shea, Wolcott, Gooley, Simons, Steward, Bunnell, Dubuc, Cathcart, 
Scrubb, Hatin, Weiner, Martinez, Ruggles, Piette, Rochon, Dale, D’Amico, Hamlin, and 
Brice either directly participated in the physical abuse of G.W., R.H., T.W., B.C., T.F., 
A.L., and D.H. and the use of solitary confinement, and/or failed to fulfill their 
constitutional obligation to protect G.W., R.H., T.W., B.C., T.F., A.L., and D.H. from 
these abusive and reprehensible practices. (Am. Compl. ¶ 33) (emphasis added). 

 Under the direction of Defendants Simons, Woodside staff members, 
including…Defendant Brice (and others) would apply rotational pressure to a juvenile’s 
joints, including wrists, shoulders, and knees, and hyperextend shoulder and rotator cuff 
muscle groups. (Am. Compl. ¶ 49). 

G.W. 

 Plaintiff, Cathy Welch, was appointed administrator of the Estate of G.W. by the Orange 
County Probate Court on December 5, 2021. (Am. Compl. ¶ 1). G.W. was detained at 
Woodside in 2016 and 2019. (Am. Compl. ¶ 335). 

 The Amended Complaint alleges Plaintiff G.W. was detained in an isolation cell where 
she was physically restrained at least 31 times. (Am. Compl. ¶ 337). According to 
incident reports, Defendants Hamlin and Brice (and others) either participated in or 
witnessed these alleged unlawful restraints. (Am. Compl. ¶ 339). 

 A video from June 27, 2019, shows Defendant Hamlin, other defendants and non-
defendant staff members “confronting”3 G.W. who is standing naked by her cell door, 
covered in feces. (Am. Compl. ¶ 377). 

T.W. 

  Plaintiff T.W. was detained at Woodside in 2018. (Am. Compl. ¶ 311). 

 While [Plaintiff] T.W. was detained at Woodside, [T.W.] was repeatedly and unlawfully 
placed in a seclusion cell in the so-called “North Unit," and repeatedly and unlawfully 
subjected to painful physical restraints. (Am. Compl. ¶ 312).  According to incident 
reports of the isolation incidents, Defendants Simons and Steward issued these unlawful 

 
3 The Amended Complaint does not explain what “confronting” an individual entails. 
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orders, following requests from Defendant Hamlin (and others).  Defendant Hamlin (and 
others) requested and/or received and carried out the orders to unlawfully place T.W. in 
a North Unit isolation cell or physically restrain her, or witnessed this unlawful conduct 
without fulfilling his constitutional obligation to intervene or take other steps to protect 
T.W. (Am. Compl. ¶ 314).  

A.L. 

 Plaintiff A.L. is a minor. (Am. Compl. ¶ 7).4 In 2018, Plaintiff A.L. was in DCF custody 
and detained at Woodside. (Am. Compl. ¶ 463). 

 On April 15, 2020, a video captured Defendant Brice shoving Plaintiff A.L. “with 
significant force using two hands on [A.L.’s] neck. [A.L.] appears to be pushed into the 
wall from the force of the shove to the neck.” (Am. Compl. ¶ 475).5  

 At one (unspecified) point in time, Defendant Steward approved of Defendant Hamlin’s 
request to restrain A.L. (Am. Compl. ¶ 467).  

 On June 29, 2020, Plaintiff A.L. “was . . . assaulted”6 by Woodside/MAP staff, “led by 
Defendant Hamlin.” (Am. Compl. ¶ 485).7   

Based on these factual allegations, the Amended Complaint alleges Hamlin and Brice are 

liable to Plaintiffs under Count One (violations of the Eighth Amendment’s ban on cruel and 

unusual punishment); Count Two (violations of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment’s ban on 

the use of excessive force); Count Three (deprivation of Plaintiffs’ rights to due process of law as 

 
4 A.L. will turn 18 on November 23, 2022. (Am Compl. ¶ 464). His claims are brought on his behalf 

by his mother, Norma Labounty, as next friend. (Am. Compl. ¶ 7). 
5 “Significant force” is conclusory and not entitled to the assumption of truth. 
6 “Assaulted” is a legal conclusion that is not entitled to an assumption of truth. See Siegel v. HSBC 

N. Am. Holdings, Inc., 933 F.3d 217, 222 (2d Cir. 2019) (on motion to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. P. 
12(b)(6), court need not accept conclusory allegations or legal conclusions masquerading as factual 
conclusions); Kent v. Katz, 146 F. Supp. 2d 450, 462 (D. Vt. 2001), aff’d in part, 312 F.3d 568 (2d Cir. 
2002) (under Vermont common law, “assault” refers to a civil tort). 

7 The Amended Complaint alleges that during the assault, A.L. “was knocked to the floor, A.L.’s 
arms were twisted and pulled behind his back, and A.L.’s legs were crossed while his feet were moved up 
against his buttocks.” (Am. Compl. ¶ 486). The Amended Complaint does not allege that Defendant 
Hamlin did any of those things. 
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guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment); Count Seven (Assault and Battery) and Count Eight 

(Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress).8  

A. Pleading standards. 

To survive a motion to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), the well-pleaded factual 

allegations, which the Court must accept as true for purposes of this motion, and reasonable 

inferences drawn therefrom must state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face. See Francis, 

992 F.3d at 72 (quoting Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)). 

“A claim is facially plausible ‘when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court 

to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.’” 

Whiteside v. Hover-Davis, Inc., 995 F.3d 315, 323–24 (2d Cir. 2021) (quoting Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 

678). A pleading that offers “labels and conclusions” or “a formulaic recitation of the elements 

of a cause of action” is insufficient. Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quoting Bell Atlantic Corp. v. 

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)). “Nor does a complaint suffice if it tenders ‘naked 

assertion[s]’ devoid of ‘further factual enhancement.’” Id. (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 557). 

While a complaint need not be a model of clarity, at a minimum it must give “each 

defendant fair notice of what the plaintiff’s claim is and the ground upon which it rests.” Wolfe v. 

Enochian BioSciences Denmark ApS, 2022 WL 656747, at *13 (D. Vt. Mar. 3, 2022) (quoting 

Atuahene v. City of Hartford, 10 F. App’x 33, 34 (2d Cir. 2001) (summary order) (quotation 

marks and citations omitted); Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2).  

A civil-rights complaint must plead each defendant’s personal involvement in the alleged 

constitutional violation. Vicarious liability does not apply; an individual cannot be held liable for 

the constitutional violations of others. Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 676; Tangreti v. Bachman, 983 F.3d 

 
8 Hamlin and Brice are not mentioned in Counts Four, Five, Six and Nine of the Amended Complaint. 
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609, 612 (2d Cir. 2020); Wiley v. Baker, 2021 WL 2652869, at *5 (D. Vt. Jan. 28, 2021) 

(nonspecific allegations that rely on group pleading and fail to differentiate which defendant was 

involved in the alleged unlawful conduct do not state a claim), report and recommendation 

adopted, 2021 WL 2652868 (D. Vt. June 28, 2021).   

B. Counts One, Two and Three do not meet the pleading standards. 

The Amended Complaint sought to cure the original Complaint’s defective and 

impermissible “group” or “shotgun” pleading9 as to Hamlin and Brice by adding new factual 

allegations (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 49; 314; 315; 339; 340; 377; and 467), and listing, by name, 

individual defendants in respective counts. Specifically, the new factual allegations are that 

Hamlin and Brice participated in or witnessed the restraint of G.W., that Hamlin confronted 

G.W., requested that T.W. be put in a seclusion cell, and requested that A.L. be restrained. In 

conclusory fashion, the Amended Complaint adds that Brice (and six other defendants) would 

apply rotational pressure to a juvenile’s10 joints and hyperextend shoulder and rotator cuff 

muscle groups.  (Am. Compl. ¶ 49).   

Counts One, Two and Three of the Amended Complaint did not remedy the “group 

pleading” defect simply by naming defendants and adding new vague, conclusory allegations. In 

these counts, the Amended Complaint individually names 20 out of the 2211 named defendants 

and provides a disjunctive list12 of how the listed defendants could have violated the “Plaintiffs” 

 
9 In the original Complaint, every count alleged that “Defendants” (all 22 of them) violated (all) 

“Plaintiffs’” rights or engaged in tortious conduct.   
10 No specific “juvenile” is identified. The Amended Complaint does not allege that the juvenile is a 

Plaintiff. 
11 Defendants Harriman and Longchamp are not mentioned in these allegations.  

 12 Counts One, Two and Three allege that while “Plaintiffs were detained at Woodside and the 
Middlesex Adolescent Program, Defendants Schatz, Shea, Gooley, Wolcott, Simons, Steward, Bunnell, 
Cathcart, Dubuc, Scrubb, Hatin, Weiner, Martinez, Ruggles, Piette, Rochon, Dale, Hamlin, and Brice 
either unlawfully isolated Plaintiffs in seclusion cells in Woodside's North Unit, physically restrained 
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rights. The Amended Complaint only alleges action of Defendant Hamlin against G.W., T.W., 

and A.L., and Defendant Brice against G.W. and A.L. Defendants Hamlin and Brice are not 

liable to any other Plaintiff. 

The Court must dismiss Counts One, Two and Three against Defendants Hamlin and Brice; 

those Counts are not based on allegations of their specific conduct. See Wilson v. County of 

Ulster, 2022 WL 813958, at *8 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 17, 2022) (dismissing claims for assault and 

battery because complaint failed to allege personal involvement of each defendant but instead 

used impermissible group pleading). While Defendants Hamlin and Brice are “named” in these 

counts, the allegations still “lump[] all the defendants together in each claim and provide no 

factual basis to distinguish their conduct.” See Atuahene, 10 F. App’x 33 (2d Cir. 2001). These 

Counts should be dismissed. 

i. COUNTS FOUR, FIVE, SIX, AND NINE: These allegations are not against Defendant 
Hamlin or Defendant Brice; they must be dismissed. 

Counts Four (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 518–523), Five (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 524–537), Six (Am. Compl. 

¶¶ 538-539), and Nine (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 556-559) make no allegations against Defendants Hamlin 

or Brice. The Court should dismiss these Counts against Hamlin and Brice.      

ii. DEFENDANTS’ MENTAL STATES are impermissibly conclusory. 

Plaintiffs’ allegations of Defendants’ mental states are impermissibly conclusory: “wanton 

and willful” conduct, (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 498, 507, 508, 516, 517, 542,553); “malicious,” (Am. 

Compl. ¶ 502); “reckless,” (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 502; 551, 559); “callous,” (Am. Compl. ¶ 502); 

 
them in violation of Plaintiffs' constitutional rights and engaged in wanton and willful conduct that 
violated Plaintiffs' right[s]. . . as guaranteed by . .  the United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. 
$1983, or failed to fulfill their constitutional duty to ensure that Plaintiffs were reasonably safe and to 
detect and correct problems that could cause injury to Plaintiffs.” (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 498, 508, 517) 
(emphasis added). 
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“deliberate[ly] indifferen[t]” or “indifferen[t]” (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 165, 502, 507, 516, 542); and 

“intentional.”  (Am. Compl. ¶ 547). 

See Jang v. Trustees of St. Johnsbury Acad., 331 F. Supp. 3d 312, 351 (D. Vt. 2018) 

(conclusory allegations that defendants acted “willfully, wantonly, and recklessly” did not 

plausibly state claim of defamation) aff’d, 771 F. App’x 86, 87–88 (2d Cir. 2019) (summary 

order). 

Since these attributions of Defendants’ mental states appear in all counts against Defendants 

Hamlin and Brice, and since malice is necessary to impose punitive damages, all counts and all 

demands for punitive damages against Defendants Hamlin and Brice must be dismissed. 

1. The Eighth Amendment does not apply to Plaintiffs. Even if it did, the Amended 
Complaint does not state a plausible Eighth Amendment claim against Defendant 
Hamlin or Defendant Brice.  

In Count One, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants violated the Eighth Amendment’s ban on 

cruel and unusual punishment, (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 493-498) and, in Count Two, its ban on 

excessive force. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 499-508).  

A. The Eighth Amendment does not apply to Plaintiffs. They were not convicted of crimes. 

The Eighth Amendment provides, “Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines 

imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.” “Taken together, these Clauses place 

‘parallel limitations’ on ‘the power of those entrusted with the criminal-law function of 

government.’” Timbs v. Indiana, 139 S. Ct. 682, 687 (2019) (citation omitted) (quoting 

Ingraham v. Wright, 430 U.S. 651, 664 (1977)). 

The Eighth Amendment protects “those convicted of crimes, and consequently the [Cruel 

and Unusual Punishment] Clause applies ‘only after the State has complied with the 

constitutional guarantees traditionally associated with criminal prosecutions.’” Whitley v. Albers, 
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475 U.S. 312, 318 (1986) (quoting Ingraham, 430 U.S. at 671 n.40). “The Eighth Amendment 

protects prisoners from cruel and unusual punishment by prison officials.” Crawford v. Cuomo, 

796 F.3d 252, 256 (2d Cir. 2015). 

Applying those principles, the court in Jackson v. Johnson ruled that the Eighth Amendment 

did not apply to a teenager who was adjudicated a juvenile delinquent in a noncriminal 

proceeding and placed by the family court in the custody of a state official not for punishment, 

but “to provide guidance and rehabilitation.” 118 F. Supp. 2d 278, 286–87 (N.D.N.Y. 2000), 

aff’d in part, dismissed in part, 13 F. App’x 51 (2d Cir. 2001) (summary order). The court 

reasoned that under New York law, adjudication as a juvenile delinquent “may [not] be 

denominated a conviction.” 118 F.Supp.2d at 287. Since the Eighth Amendment applies only to 

those convicted of a crime, see Whitley and Ingraham, it did not apply to the juvenile whose 

claim was before the court. Id.  

Similarly, juvenile proceedings in Vermont “are aimed primarily at protecting and 

rehabilitating youth in trouble. See 33 V.S.A. § 5101(a) (setting forth purposes underlying 

juvenile proceedings provisions). The legislative policy expressly seeks to rehabilitate juvenile 

offenders while removing ‘the taint of criminality and the consequences of criminal behavior.’ 

33 V.S.A. § 5101(a)(2).” In re D.K., 2012 VT 23, ¶ 19, 191 Vt. 328, 338–39, 47 A.3d 347, 355. 

In Vermont, the family division of the superior court adjudicates juvenile delinquency 

proceedings. An order of the court in those proceedings is not deemed a conviction of crime and 

does not impose any civil disabilities or sanctions ordinarily resulting from a conviction. 33 

V.S.A. § 5202(a)(1)(A), (B). At all relevant times prior to Woodside’s closure, its mandate was 

to operate “as a residential treatment facility that provides in-patient psychiatric, mental health, 

and substance abuse services in a secure setting for adolescents who have been adjudicated or 
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charged with a delinquency or criminal act.” 33 V.S.A. § 5801(a) (prior to repeal via 2021, No. 

74, § E.327). 

Plaintiffs were not at Woodside for punishment. The Eighth Amendment does not apply to 

them. Counts One and Two must be dismissed. 

B. The Amended Complaint does not plausibly allege an Eighth Amendment claim. 

Even if Plaintiffs were protected by the Eighth Amendment, akin to prisoners, their claims 

fail; the Amended Complaint does not allege sufficient facts to support the conclusory assertions 

that Defendants violated their rights under the Eighth Amendment. 

To state an Eighth Amendment claim, a plaintiff must allege two elements, one subjective 

and one objective. First, the subjective element requires a prisoner to allege that the defendant 

“had the necessary level of culpability, shown by actions characterized by ‘wantonness’” in light 

of the surrounding circumstances, which turns on whether the “force was applied in a good-faith 

effort to maintain or restore discipline, or maliciously and sadistically to cause harm.” Wright v. 

Goord, 554 F.3d 255, 268 (2d Cir. 2009) (quotations omitted). 

Second, the plaintiff must allege conduct that was objectively harmful enough or sufficiently 

serious to reach constitutional dimensions. Crawford, 796 F.3d at 256. In the prison context, 

although not “every malevolent touch by a prison guard gives rise to a federal cause of action,” 

the Eighth Amendment proscribes conduct that is “repugnant to the conscience of mankind,” id., 

that is, conduct that is “incompatible with evolving standards of decency” or involves “the 

unnecessary and wanton infliction of pain.” Id.  

The Amended Complaint does not plausibly plead a plausible Eighth Amendment claim. On 

the subjective element, it alleges wantonness in conclusory terms, without supporting details; the 
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Amended Complaint does not address whether Defendants were engaged in “a good-faith effort 

to maintain or restore discipline.” See Wright, 554 F.3d at 268. 

On the objective element, Plaintiffs allege “no basis to conclude that the alleged use of force 

was “objectively ‘harmful enough’ or ‘sufficiently serious’” to violate the Eighth Amendment. 

See George v. County of Westchester, 2021 WL 4392485, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 24, 2021) 

(quoting Crawford, 796 F.3d at 256).  

Without explanation, Plaintiffs allege that a video shows Defendant Brice using his hands on 

A.L.’s neck and that A.L. “appears to be pushed into the wall from the force of the shove to the 

neck.” (Am. Compl. ¶ 475). This does not describe conduct “repugnant to the conscience of 

mankind,” see Crawford, 796 F.3d at 256, nor is it “objectively ‘harmful enough’ or ‘sufficiently 

serious’” to violate the Eighth Amendment. 

In George, a prison official went into plaintiff’s cell and shoved him against the wall, 

threatening that if plaintiff did not retract a grievance plaintiff had been pursuing the official 

would ensure that the prisoner’s incarceration would last longer. 2021 WL 4392485, at *2. The 

court dismissed the Eighth Amendment claim, citing decisions from other courts in this circuit 

that have found that comparable forceful shoving or pushing of an inmate is insufficient to 

satisfy the objective prong of an excessive-force claim.  

The Amended Complaint’s allegation that that Defendants Hamlin and Brice “participated 

in” restraints of G.W also does not satisfy the elements of an Eighth-Amendment claim. There 

are no factual allegations of the “restraints” of G.W. that Defendants Hamlin and Brice 

“participated in,” or how they “participated in” any such restraints. 
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Since the Amended Complaint does not plausibly allege the subjective or objective elements 

of an Eighth Amendment claim against Defendant Hamlin or Defendant Brice, Counts One and 

Two must be dismissed against them. 

2. The excessive-force counts should be dismissed; the Eighth Amendment claims are 
redundant, and the Fourteenth Amendment claims do no plead objectively 
unreasonable force.   

Count One is based on the Eighth Amendment’s ban on “cruel and unusual punishment. 

Count Two alleges an Eighth Amendment “excessive force” claim; it cites the Fourteenth 

Amendment but Count One does not. Count Two directly cites a violation of excessive force 

under the Fourteenth Amendment, while it is alluded to in Count Three. All claims for excessive 

force should be dismissed.   

 A. Excessive Force Claims Under Eighth Amendment are redundant  

The Eighth Amendment excessive-force counts are legally indistinguishable from the cruel-

and-unusual counts.  The phrase “excessive force” does not appear in the Eighth Amendment. 

“Excessive force” is a subset of “cruel and unusual punishment.” Crichlow v. Annucci, 2022 WL 

179917, at *17 (N.D.N.Y. Jan. 20, 2022) (“cruel and unusual punishment encompasses the use of 

excessive force . . ..”). The cruel-and-unusual counts subsume the excessive-force counts; they 

are based on the same facts; they are redundant. They must be dismissed.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 

12(f). 

B. The Excessive Force Claims Under the Fourteenth Amendment do not plead   
objectively unreasonable force.  

The right not to be subjected to excessive force, most commonly associated with the Fourth 

and Eighth Amendments, can also arise under the Fourteenth. Edrei v. Maguire, 892 F.3d 525, 

533 (2d Cir. 2018). In a Fourteenth Amendment claim, “[a] pre-trial detainee must show that the 
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force purposefully or knowingly used again him was objectively unreasonable.” Kingsley v. 

Hendrickson, 576 U.S. 389, 396–97 (2015).  Objective reasonableness turns on the “facts and 

circumstances” of each case. Id. (citations omitted).  

The only specific allegation of force by Defendant Brice is that he “shoved” A.L. using 

“significant force” into a wall. (Am. Comp. ¶ 475). There are no allegations that A.L. suffered 

any injury from the alleged shove, or any other allegations to provide context to the interaction. 

Without greater detail, the court cannot conclude from the pleadings that the use of force by 

Defendant Brice was “objectively unreasonable,” and therefore excessive. See Lewis v. Huebner, 

No. 17-CV-8101 (KMK), 2020 WL 1244254, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 16, 2020) (“[C]laims for 

excessive force under the Fourteenth Amendment must involve force that is either ‘more than de 

minimis’ or “repugnant to the conscience of mankind.’”) (quoting United States v. Walsh, 194 

F.3d 37, 48 (2d Cir. 1999)).  

Plaintiff A.L. pleads that Hamlin “led an assault” against him, but he does not state that 

Defendant Hamlin ever touched him. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 485, 486). The Amended Complaint also 

alleges that Hamlin “requested” a restraint of A.L.—but it does not say that Hamlin personally 

restrained A.L. (Am. Compl. ¶ 467). There are no allegations that Hamlin used any force against 

A.L., G.W. or T.W., let alone unreasonable, excessive force. 

The allegations that Defendants Brice and Hamlin “participated in, or witnessed” restraints 

of G.W. are conclusory and should be disregarded. (Am. Compl. ¶ 339). 

The Amended Complaint does not state a plausible claim against Defendant Hamlin or 

Defendant Brice under the Fourteenth Amendment for use of excessive force. 
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3. Count Three does not state a plausible claim for violation of Plaintiffs’ Fourteenth 
Amendment rights against Defendants Hamlin or Brice  

The Amended Complaint does not allege specific facts that Hamlin or Brice used excessive 

force, isolated the Plaintiffs, or otherwise failed to intervene upon witnessing violations of 

Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights.13 This Count should be dismissed against Defendants Hamlin and 

Brice. 

“Section 1983 provides a federal remedy for ‘the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or 

immunities secured by the Constitution and laws.’” Golden State Transit Corp. v. City of L.A., 

493 U.S. 103, 105 (1989) (quoting 42. U.S.C.§ 1983). The conduct at issue “must have been 

committed by a person acting under color of state law” and “must have deprived a person of 

rights, privileges or laws of the United States.” Cornejo v. Bell, 592 F.3d 121, 127 (2d Cir. 2010) 

(quoting Pitchell v. Callan, 13 F.3d 545, 547 (2d Cir. 1994)).  

The Amended Complaint alleges that Defendants violated each Plaintiff’s due-process rights 

by either unlawfully isolating Plaintiffs, physically restraining Plaintiffs or failing to fulfill their 

constitutional duty to ensure that Plaintiffs were reasonably safe. (Am. Compl. ¶ 517). The 

excessive-force claim under the Fourteenth Amendment was pleaded in Count Two and is 

therefore redundant in Count Three.   

A. The Fourteenth Amendment claims are impermissibly vague and conclusory.  

The Fourteenth Amendment claims against Defendants Hamlin and Brice are impermissibly 

vague,14 conclusory, and fail to put Defendants on notice of how they violated Plaintiffs’ rights. 

 
13 Count Three alleges that Hamlin and Brice violated Plaintiff’s right to substantive and procedural 

due process. (Am. Compl. ¶ 517). The Amended Complaint does not allege how Hamlin and Brice were 
personally involved with any violation of procedural due process. Allegations of procedural due process 
should be dismissed against Hamlin and Brice. 

14 The count alleges that all Defendants (listed by name) violated all of the Plaintiff’s due process 
rights by either unlawfully isolating Plaintiffs, physically restraining Plaintiffs in violation of their 
constitutional rights, and engaging in wanton and willful conduct that violated Plaintiff’s right to 
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See Section B, above. Did Hamlin and Brice “confine[], restrain[], treat[], and punish[] 

Plaintiffs,” “punish[], restrain[], and confin[e] Plaintiffs,” or did they fail to fulfill their 

constitutional duty to ensure Plaintiffs were reasonably safe? (Am. Compl. ¶ 514; 515).  Because 

Hamlin and Brice are “lumped” in with 18 other defendants in these allegations, they are not on 

notice of how they violated Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a).  

B.  Defendants Hamlin and Brice did not unconstitutionally isolate Plaintiffs.   

The Amended Complaint alleges that Defendant Hamlin requested that T.W. be placed in 

solitary confinement, and that those requests were approved by his superiors.  (Am. Compl. ¶ 

314). It makes no other factual allegations with respect to T.W.’s isolation or any other 

Plaintiffs’ isolation or confinement. There are no allegations that Defendant Brice had any 

personal involvement in “isolating” or “confining” Plaintiffs. These allegations against Hamlin 

and Brice should be dismissed. Pilj v. Doe, No. 3:20-CV-771 (VAB), 2020 WL 6826739, at *3 

(D. Conn. Nov. 20, 2020) (citing Darnell v. Pineiro, 849 F.3d 17, 35 (2d Cir. 2017) (stating that 

a pretrial detainee can state a substantive due process claim regarding the conditions of his 

confinement in two ways: he can show that the defendants were deliberately indifferent to the 

conditions of his confinement or he can show that the conditions are punitive.) 

C.  The allegations that Hamlin and Brice “failed to intervene” are conclusory.   

The Amended Complaint alleges that Defendants Hamlin and Brice “failed to fulfill their 

constitutional duty to ensure that Plaintiffs were reasonable safe and detect and correct problems 

that could cause injury to Plaintiff.” (Am. Compl. § 517). While the Amended Complaint alleges 

 
substantive and procedural due process of law as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amended of the United 
States Constitutional in violation or 42 U.S.C. 1983 or failing to fulfill their constitutional duty to ensure 
that Plaintiffs were reasonably safe and to detect or correct problems that could cause injury to Plaintiffs.  
(Am. Compl. ¶ 517.) 
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a slew of actions by other defendants, it fails to establish, even at the pleading stage, when or 

where Hamlin or Brice had an obligation to intervene.  

While law enforcement officials have an affirmative duty to intervene to protect the 

constitutional rights of citizens from infringement by other law enforcement officers, an officer 

can only be liable to intervene when “(1) the officer had a realistic opportunity to intervene and 

prevent the harm; (2) a reasonable person in the officer’s position would know the victim’s 

constitutional rights were being violated; and (3) the officer does not take reasonable steps to 

intervene.” Jean-Laurent v. Wilkinson, 540 F. Supp. 2d 501, 512 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (citing O’Neill 

v. Krzeminski, 839 F.2d 9, 11–12 (2d Cir. 1988). 

The bare allegations of the Amended Complaint do not establish that Hamlin or Brice had an 

obligation to intervene. The Amended Complaint alleges Hamlin and Brice witnessed allegedly 

unlawful restraints of G.W.,15 but does not specify when this happened or what they saw. The 

allegation that these restraints were “unlawful” is conclusory.  

Similarly, with regard to T.W., Hamlin is alleged to have “witnessed” unlawful conduct, 

without specifying what the conduct is. The lack of factual detail does not establish that a 

reasonable person in Brice or Hamlin’s position would know that the plaintiffs’ constitutional 

rights were being violated. See Jean-Laurent, 540 F. Supp. 2d at 512. 

The only allegation with some factual detail is that a video from June 27, 2019, shows 

Hamlin and others, “confronting G.W. who is standing naked by her cell door, covered in feces.” 

(Am. Compl. ¶ 377). Even with this additional factual detail, it is not clear how G.W.’s 

 
15 The Amended Complaint alleges G.W. was placed in an isolation cell where she was restrained “at 

least” 31 times.   
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constitutional rights are being violated, and whether Defendant Hamlin had an opportunity to 

intervene. 

Without more specificity, any allegation that Hamlin and Brice “witnessed” unlawful acts 

and failed to intervene are conclusory. This claim must be dismissed.  

4. Defendants Hamlin and Brice are entitled to qualified immunity. 

“[Q]ualified immunity shields federal and state officials from money damages unless the 

plaintiff pleads facts showing (1) that the official violated a statutory or constitutional right, and 

(2) that the right was clearly established at the time of the challenged conduct.” Francis v. 

Fiacco, 942 F.3d 126, 139 (2d Cir. 2019). The Court may rule on either prong.  

For a right to be clearly established, its “contours . . . must be sufficiently clear [such] that a 

reasonable official would understand that what he is doing violates that right.” Anderson v. 

Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 640 (1987). That is, “[then-]existing precedent must have placed 

the . . . constitutional question beyond debate,” Ashcroft v. al-Kidd, 563 U.S. 731, 741 (2011), so 

that any reasonable official would have “‘known for certain’” that the conduct was unlawful 

under then-existing precedent. Liberian Cmty. Ass’n of Connecticut v. Lamont, 970 F.3d 174, 

186–87 (2d Cir. 2020) (quoting Ziglar v. Abbasi, 137 S. Ct. 1843, 1867 (2017). Otherwise, the 

official is immune from suit. 

To determine whether a right is clearly established, the Court should look to Supreme Court 

and Second Circuit precedent existing at the time of the alleged violation. Vasquez v. Maloney, 

990 F.3d 232, 238 (2d Cir. 2021). The clearly established right must be defined with specificity, 

not “at a high level of generality.” City of Escondido, Cal. v. Emmons, 139 S. Ct. 500, 503 

(2019). 
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Because qualified immunity protects officials not merely from liability but from litigation, 

when possible, the issue should be resolved on a motion to dismiss, before the commencement of 

discovery, to avoid subjecting public officials to time-consuming and expensive discovery 

procedures. Garcia v. Does, 779 F.3d 84, 97 (2d Cir. 2015). 

Qualified immunity bars Plaintiffs’ Eighth Amendment claims. At the time of Defendants’ 

alleged conduct, no Supreme Court or Second Circuit law clearly established that the Eighth 

Amendment would apply to Plaintiffs under these circumstances. That is still true. Defendants 

are entitled to qualified immunity from suit on Counts One and Two, which must be dismissed. 

5. The Court should decline jurisdiction over the pendent state-law claims. 

Counts Seven through Nine assert what Plaintiffs refer to as “pendent” state claims: assault 

and battery (Count Seven), intentional infliction of emotional distress (Count Eight), and grossly 

negligent and reckless supervision of persons in Defendants’ custody and control (Count Nine). 

Count Nine was not plead against Hamlin or Brice. 

Plaintiffs claim this Court has jurisdiction over the state-law claims under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1367,16 which “codifies the court-developed pendent and ancillary jurisdiction doctrines under 

the label ‘supplemental jurisdiction,’” Artis v. D.C., 138 S. Ct. 594, 598 (2018).  (Am. Compl. ¶ 

36.) The Court should decline to exercise that jurisdiction. 

“[D]istrict courts may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over a [pendent] 

claim . . . if . . . (1) the claim raises a novel or complex issue of State law, [or] (3) the district 

court has dismissed all claims over which it has original jurisdiction . . ..” § 1367(c)(3). In those 

 
16 Under § 1367(a), “in any civil action of which the district courts have original jurisdiction, the 

district courts shall have supplemental jurisdiction over all other claims that are so related to claims in the 
action within such original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy under Article 
III of the United States Constitution.” 
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circumstances, a court should consider whether “judicial economy, convenience, fairness, and 

comity counsel against exercising supplemental jurisdiction.” Catzin v. Thank You & Good Luck 

Corp., 899 F.3d 77, 86 (2d Cir. 2018). 

Here, the state-law claims present novel issues of Vermont law. See 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(1). 

They would require the Court to apply 12 V.S.A. § 5602, which immunizes State employees 

from tort liability, except in the case of “gross negligence or willful misconduct.”17 See Part 5.B. 

below. And they would require the Court to apply Vermont tort law to a setting the Vermont 

Supreme Court has not addressed. 

The relevant factors identified in Catzin weigh in favor of dismissal. Litigation about § 5602 

and the cited tort laws in a Vermont court would be more efficient; it will obviate any need for 

this Court or the Court of Appeals to ask the Vermont Supreme Court to resolve Vermont-law 

questions.18 Interests of comity weigh in favor of allowing Vermont courts to decide important 

issues of Vermont law governing the liability or immunity of State employees. See Boyens v. 

Anderson, 2021 WL 5580055, at *3 (D. Vt. Nov. 30, 2021) (citing comity as basis for declining 

to exercise discretion to decide Vermont common-law claims after dismissing federal claims). 

Likewise, if the Court dismisses all the original-jurisdiction claims, see 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), 

the Court should dismiss the state-law claims. See 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3). 

 
17 Section 5602 provides: 

(a) When the act or omission of an employee of the State acting within the scope of 
employment is believed to have caused damage to property, injury to persons, or death, the 
exclusive right of action shall lie against the State of Vermont; and no such action may be 
maintained against the employee or the estate of the employee. 

(b) This section does not apply to gross negligence or willful misconduct. 

(c) As used in this chapter, “employee” means any person defined as a State employee by 3 
V.S.A. § 1101. 

18 See L.R. 74 (D. Vt.); V.R.A.P. 14; and L.R. 27.2 (2d Cir.), governing certification. 
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6. Plaintiffs’ state-law claims are barred by 12 V.S.A. § 5602. 

Under Vermont law, a tort claim may not be asserted against a state employee unless the 

employee acted with “gross negligence or willful misconduct”; any action lies exclusively 

against the State. 12 V.S.A. § 5602(b). See footnote 17 (quoting § 5602). 

Plaintiffs’ allegations of gross negligence and willful misconduct are conclusory; they are 

not entitled to the assumption of truth and do not overcome Defendants’ immunity under 

§ 5602(a). 

7. The Amended Complaint fails to state a state-law claim upon which relief can be 
granted. 

In federal court, federal pleading standards prevail in all civil actions, including those based 

on state law. See Tannerite Sports, LLC v. NBCUniversal News Grp., 864 F.3d 236, 247 (2d Cir. 

2017). Thus, this Court must test Counts Seven and Eight against the Twombly-Iqbal standard. 

See id. Vague and conclusory allegations are not sufficient. See Wiley, 2021 WL 2652869, at *4. 

A. Count Seven (Assault and Battery), fails to state a plausible claim. 

In Count Seven (“Assault and Battery”), the Amended Complaint alleges, “While Plaintiffs 

were detained at Woodside and the Middlesex Adolescent Program between 2016 and 2020, 

Defendants, Simons, Steward, Bunnell, Cathcart, Martinez, Weiner Piette, Rochon, Hamlin, 

Ruggles, Hatin, and Bryce [sic] repeatedly placed [Plaintiffs] in isolation cells in the North Unit 

and physically assaulted them.” (Am. Compl. ¶ 545).  

As argued above, allegations about the placement of Plaintiffs in isolation cells do not apply 

to Defendant Brice. Further, there is no allegation that Defendant Hamlin ever placed any 

Plaintiff in an isolation cell. That part of Count Seven must be dismissed.   
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In Count Seven, Plaintiffs “repeat and incorporate” paragraphs 1 through 624 [sic]. (Am. 

Compl. ¶ 544). Including those incorporated paragraphs, Count Seven does not plausibly state a 

claim against Hamlin or Brice. The allegations are impermissibly vague and conclusory.  

Under Vermont law, battery “is an intentional act that results in harmful contact with 

another.” Christman v. Davis, 2005 VT 119, ¶ 6, 179 Vt. 99, 101, 889 A.2d 746, 749. “At 

common law, the civil tort of assault is defined as any gesture or threat of violence exhibiting an 

[intention] to assault, with the means of carrying that threat into effect . . . unless immediate 

contact is impossible.” MacLeod v. Town of Brattleboro, 2012 WL 5949787, at *8 (D.Vt. Nov. 

28, 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted). 

Privilege is a defense to an intentional tort, see Skaskiw v. Vermont Agency of Agric., 2014 

VT 133, ¶ 12, 198 Vt. 187, 195, 112 A.3d 1277, 1285 (discussing privilege in defamation law), 

including assault and battery, see Crowell v. Kirkpatrick, 667 F.Supp.2d 391, 417 (D.Vt. 2009) 

(applying Vermont assault-and-battery law; asking whether police officer’s conduct was 

“reasonably necessary and thereby privileged”), aff’d, 400 Fed.Appx. 592 (2d Cir. 2010) 

(summary order) (quotation marks omitted). When the complaint alleges an intentional tort under 

circumstances giving rise to a privilege, the complaint must include allegations that would 

overcome the privilege. Skaskiw, supra. 

Count Seven alleges that Defendants “physically assaulted” Plaintiffs. (Am. Compl. ¶ 545). 

That allegation is a legal conclusion and not entitled to the assumption of truth. See Kartiganer v. 

Juab Cty., 2012 WL 1906547, at *2 (D. Utah Apr. 6, 2012), report and recommendation 

adopted, 2012 WL 1906531 (D. Utah May 25, 2012). Therefore, Plaintiffs must allege facts 

sufficient to put each Defendant on notice of their specific harmful conduct. Id. See also Durnell 

Case 5:21-cv-00283-gwc   Document 70   Filed 08/15/22   Page 20 of 24



21 

v. Foti, 2019 WL 5893263, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 12, 2019) (dismissing battery claim against 

physician for lack of specificity). 

The Amended Complaint alleges that A.L. “was assaulted” by Woodside staff, “led” by 

Defendant Hamlin. (Am. Compl. ¶ 485). During the incident, A.L. “was [allegedly] knocked to 

the floor, [his] arms were twisted and pulled behind his back, and [his] legs were crossed while 

his feet were moved up against his buttocks.” (Am. Compl. ¶ 486). 

The Amended Complaint does not allege that Defendant Hamlin did any of those things. It 

does not specifically allege how—i.e., by what conduct—Defendant Hamlin “led” an “assault” 

as defined by the above-cited caselaw. 

The Amended Complaint alleges that a video recorded Defendant Brice using his hands on 

Plaintiff A.L.’s neck shoving A.L. with “significant force” and that A.L. “appears to be” “pushed 

into the wall from the force of the shove to the neck.” (Am. Compl. ¶ 475). These allegations 

lack the detail necessary to state a claim for assault and battery. For example, it does not 

establish that Brice’s alleged conduct was not “reasonably necessary and thereby privileged.” 

See Crowell, 667 F.Supp.2d at 417. 

The context of these allegations against Defendants Hamlin and Brice, the administration of 

a treatment facility for juveniles in the custody of the DCF Commissioner, raises the issue of 

privilege. See Chase v. Watson, 75 Vt. 385, 388, 56 A. 10 (1903) (holding that selectmen with 

duty to remove obstructions from highway may use such force as is reasonably necessary for 

purpose of preventing plaintiff from interfering with removal). The Amended Complaint fails to 

allege facts overcoming the privilege. See Skaskiw, 2014 VT 133, ¶ 12, 198 Vt. at 195, 112 A.3d 

at 1285.  
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Since the allegations against Defendants Hamlin and Brice do not plausibly state a claim of 

assault and battery, Count Seven must be dismissed against them. 

B. Count Eight, intentional infliction of emotional distress, fails to state a claim.  

In Count Eight, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants are liable for intentional infliction of 

emotional distress (IIED): they allege that Defendants’ conduct “was so outrageous and extreme 

as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency,” (Am. Compl. ¶ 550), and that, “by placing 

Plaintiffs in isolation cells . . . and by physically assaulting them,” Defendants’ conduct caused 

Plaintiffs extreme emotional distress. (Am. Compl. ¶ 554).  

Neither Defendant Hamlin nor Defendant Brice put any plaintiff in isolation. The Amended 

Complaint simply alleges that Hamlin “requested” that T.W. be placed in seclusion/isolation. 

(Am. Compl. ¶ 314). Any claim regarding isolation must be dismissed against Hamlin and Brice. 

A plaintiff alleging IIED under Vermont law carries a “heavy burden.” Davis v. Am. Legion, 

Dep’t of Vermont, 2014 VT 134, ¶ 20, 198 Vt. 204, 212, 114 A.3d 99, 106. The plaintiff must 

show defendants engaged in “outrageous conduct, done intentionally or with reckless disregard 

of the probability of causing emotional distress, resulting in the suffering of extreme emotional 

distress, actually or proximately caused by the outrageous conduct.” Sheltra v. Smith, 136 Vt. 

472, 476, 392 A.2d 431, 433 (1978). 

Plaintiff must show defendants’ conduct was “so outrageous in character and so extreme in 

degree as to go beyond all possible bounds of decent and tolerable conduct in a civilized 

community and be regarded as atrocious and utterly intolerable.” Dulude v. Fletcher Allen 

Health Care, Inc., 174 Vt. 74, 83, 807 A.2d 390, 397 (2002). Plaintiff must allege harm that was 

so severe that no reasonable person could be expected to endure it. Grega v. Pettengill, 123 

F. Supp. 3d 517, 550 (D. Vt. 2015). 
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The Amended Complaint does not plausibly allege an IIED claim against Defendant Hamlin 

or Defendant Brice. It merely attempts to recite the elements of an IIED claim with naked 

assertions devoid of further factual enhancement, which is insufficient. See Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 

678. The few specific allegations in the incorporated paragraphs about Defendants Hamlin and 

Brice do not state an IIED claim against either of them. 

The allegations against Hamlin: that he (and others) “confronted” G.W. while she was in her 

cell, (Am. Compl. ¶ 377); that he “participated in or witnessed” physical restraints of G.W., (Am. 

Compl. ¶ 339); that he “requested” T.W. be placed in a seclusion cell, (Am. Compl. ¶ 314); that 

he “requested” the restraint of A.L., (Am. Compl. ¶ 467); and that he “led” Woodside staff in an 

incident with A.L., (Am. Compl. ¶ 485), all fail to meet the “heavy burden” for stating an IIED 

claim. The vague allegations do not plausibly allege conduct by him that meets the objective test 

for outrageousness or the other elements of an IIED claim under Vermont law.  

Defendant Brice allegedly shoved A.L., (Am. Compl. ¶ 475), and “participated in or 

witnessed” physical restraints of G.W., (Am. Compl. ¶ 314). The alleged interactions are not so 

extreme or outrageous as to give rise to liability under Vermont law. See Dulude, 174 Vt. at 83, 

807 A.2d at 397. 

The Amended Complaint’s conclusory allegation of “extreme” emotional distress, (Am. 

Compl. ¶ 554), does not allege a causal connection to the alleged conduct of either Defendants 

Hamlin or Brice. See Sheltra, 136 Vt. at 476, 392 A.2d at 433 (IIED claim requires showing of 

extreme emotional distress resulting from defendant’s conduct).  

These flaws require dismissal of Count Eight against Defendants Hamlin and Brice. 
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C. The Amended Complaint fails to state a claim for punitive damages. 

Plaintiffs seek punitive damages, (Am. Compl. at ¶¶ 542, 547, 555), which require a 

showing of: (1) wrongful conduct that is outrageously reprehensible; and (2) malice. Fly Fish 

Vt., Inc. v. Chapin Hill Estates, Inc., 2010 VT 33, ¶ 18, 187 Vt. 541, 996 A.2d 1167. 

To make knowing and intentional conduct malicious, plaintiff must show bad motive. That 

is, there must be more than willful and knowing conduct. State Agency of Nat. Res. v. Riendeau, 

157 Vt. 615, 625, 603 A.2d 360, 365 (1991).  

Plaintiffs do not plausibly allege the elements of a punitive damages claim under the 

specified substantive standards or the applicable pleading standards set forth in Twombly, Iqbal, 

and their progeny. Their demand for punitive damages must be dismissed. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, the Court should grant this Motion to Dismiss. 

WHEREFORE, Defendants, Christopher Hamlin and Anthony Brice, respectfully request 

that the court DISMISS the claims against them in this matter. 

 DATED: August 15, 2022 
RYAN SMITH & CARBINE, LTD. 

By: /s/ Francesca Bove  
Francesca Bove, Esq. 
Attorneys for defendants, 
CHRISTOPHER HAMLIN AND 
ANTHONY BRICE  
98 Merchants Row 
Rutland, Vermont 05702-0310 
(802) 786-1000 
fmb@rsclaw.com 

10596-001 1244244 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE 

DISTRICT OF VERMONT

CATHY WELCH, ADMINISTRATOR OF THE 
ESTATE OF G.W., R.H., T.W., T.F., 
D.H., B.C., and A.L., by next friend Norma Labounty

Plaintiffs, Civil Docket No. 5:21–cv-00283

v. 

KENNETH SCHATZ, KAREN SHEA, 
CINDY WOLCOTT, BRENDA GOOLEY, 
JAY SIMONS, ARON STEWARD, MARCUS BUNNELL, 
JOHN DUBUC, WILLIAM CATHCART, 
BRYAN SCRUBB, KEVIN HATIN, 
NICHOLAS WEINER, DAVID MARTINEZ, 
CAROL RUGGLES, TIM PIETTE, 
DEVIN ROCHON, AMELIA HARRIMAN, 
EDWIN DALE, MELANIE D’AMICO, 
ERIN LONGCHAMP, CHRISTOPHER HAMLIN, 
and ANTHONY BRICE, all in their individual capacities.

Defendants

DEFENDANT WILLIAM CATHCART’S MOTION TO DISMISS 
PLAINTIFFS’ AMENDED COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6)

NOW COMES Defendant WILLIAM CATHCART, by and through counsel,

WOODSTOCK LAW, PC, and pursuant to F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) hereby moves the Court to

dismiss all Counts against him, as further detailed below, for failure to state a claim upon

which relief can be granted.  In furtherance of this Motion to Dismiss, Defendant Cathcart

submits the following Memorandum of Law.

INTRODUCTION

This matter stems from claims asserted by, and on behalf of, juveniles detained at the

Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center in Essex, Vermont, the Middlesex Adolescent

Page 1 of  24
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Center and Natchez Trace Juvenile Academy between 2016 and 2020.   Defendant William

Cathcart is identified as a “staff member and assistant director” in paragraph 17 of The

Factual Background section in the Amended Complaint.   In a largely conclusory manner, the

Amended Complaint outlines certain facts against Defendant Cathcart, but those facts are

without specific “enhancement” necessary to allow the Court to infer any possibility of relief

against him.   Additionally, the Amended Complaint includes no allegations as it relates to

Plaintiffs T.F., D.H., B.C., and A.L. and Defendant Cathcart.  For the reasons set forth below,

the assertions against Defendant Cathcart in the Amended Complaint do not rise to a right to

relief above the speculative level, and must be dismissed.  Bell Atl.Corp. v. Twombly, 580

U.S. 544, 554 (2007).   

MEMORANDUM OF LAW

Defendant Cathcart seeks dismissal of all Counts (One through Eight as Count Nine is

not asserted as against Cathcart) outlined in the Amended Complaint (dated June 23, 2022) 

pursuant to F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6), for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

Likewise, F.R.C.P. 8(a)(2), as a provision of general pleading practice, requires the pleader to

provide fair notice to the opposing party to enable him to answer and prepare for trial. 

Salahuddin v. Cuomo, 861 F.2d 40, 42 (2d Cir. 1980).   It is therefore incumbent upon the

pleader to assert “a statement clear enough ‘to give the Defendant fair notice of what the

Plaintiff’s claim is and the grounds on which it rests.”  See, V.R.C.P. 8 REPORTER’S NOTES

(quoting Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41 (1957)).  As stated in Salahuddin, the requirement

the statement is short as “[u]necessary prolixity in a pleading places an unjustified burden on

the court and the party who must respond to it because they are forced to select the relevant

Page 2 of  24
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material from a mass of verbiage.”  861 F.2d at 42, citing 5 C. WRIGHT & A. MILLER, Federal

Practice and Procedure § 1281 at 365 (1969).  This Amended Complaint lacks any concise

statement of factual allegations which give rise to any reasonable inferences against Defendant

Cathcart and therefore give rise to a right to relief to any Plaintiff, pursuant to both F.R.C.P.

8(a)(2), and F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6).    

As it relates to Defendant William Cathcart, Plaintiffs make no allegations specific to

conduct which would give rise to an inference of liability by Defendant Cathcart as it relates

to Plaintiffs T.F., D.H., B.C., and A.L.   For this reason alone all claims against Defendant

Cathcart by these Plaintiffs must be dismissed.  Defendant Cathcart is without any concise

statement of factual allegations, nor the grounds of the claims, against him by these Plaintiffs. 

Defendant Cathcart acknowledges the serious nature of the complaints asserted in Plaintiffs’

Amended Complaint, as well as the historical perspective of the Disability Rights injunctive

action which illustrated executive policy decisions by some of the administrators of

Woodside.  This matter stands on different footing as it is a claim for damages by Plaintiffs. 

To survive a Motion to Dismiss, a Complaint must contain sufficient factual matter,

accepted as true, to “state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556

U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)).  To

meet this standard, a plaintiff must plead “factual content that allows the court to draw the

reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Id.  See also 

Chambers v. Time Warner, Inc., 282 F.3d 147, 152 (2d Cir. 2000).  Plaintiffs must allege

both facts and legal theories as against each named Defendant with specificity such the

Defendant to have a “fair understanding of what the plaintiff is complaining about and to

Page 3 of  24

Case 5:21-cv-00283-gwc   Document 71   Filed 08/15/22   Page 3 of 24



Woodstock
law

43 Lincoln Corners Way,
Suite 103

Woodstock, Vermont 05091
802.457.2123

know whether there is a legal basis for recovery.”  Hauff v. State Univ. of New York, 425

F.Supp.3d 116, 126-127 (E.D.N.Y 2019). 

The Court, in evaluating the efficiency of the Complaint, uses a “two pronged

approach”.  Hayden v. Paterson, 594 F.3d 150, 161 (2d Cir. 2010)(quoting Iqbal, 556 U.S. at

679).  First, legal conclusions are discounted by the Court, as are “[t]hreadbare recitals of the

elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusary statements”.  Iqbal, 556 U.S. at

678.  Second, the Court considers whether the factual allegations, taken as true, plausibly give

rise to an entitlement to relief.  Id. This second step is fact-bound, context-specific and the

Court is to “draw upon its own judicial experience and common sense.”  Iqbal, 556 U.S. at

679.  

The “facial plausibility” standard seeks more than a “sheer possibility that the

Defendant has acted unlawfully”.   Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (2009).   A Complaint

which pleads facts “merely consistent with” a defendant’s liability “stops short of the line

between possibility and plausibility of entitlement to relief”.  Id. (additional citations omitted). 

As will be outlined further below, the claims against Defendant Cathcart must be dismissed

for failure to state a claim for which relief can be granted, as the Amended Complaint stops

short of the line between possibility and plausibility of entitlement to relief.

I. Plaintiffs  T.F., B.C., D.H., and A.L. do not allege any facts against 
Defendant William Cathcart which would allow the Court to infer 
any misconduct which would give these named Plaintiffs a right to relief 
accordingly, their respective claims must be dismissed.

Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint does not lack specificity factually.  In addition to the

usual factual background section, Plaintiffs offer additional detail about the conditions at

Woodside, conditions of confinement at Natchez Trace Juvenile Academy, as well as general
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commentary on the impacts of solitary confinement on juveniles and confinement in the North

Unit.  The Amended Complaint also contains specific allegations pertaining to each named

Plaintiff.  In those sections Plaintiffs outline their time at Woodside, including any allegations

of physical restraint, seclusion or isolation which occurred during their residency giving rise to

the stated legal claims.  Plaintiffs reference documentation and named Defendants and their

alleged actions or omissions.   For example, when detailing T.F.’s claims, the Amended

Complaint relays the investigation performed by DCF/RLSIU with detail of the alleged

regulatory violations.  ¶ 427.  The alleged Defendants involved are specifically named, as is

the actions involving them and the claimed injury resulting to T.F.  ¶¶ 406-427.    There are no

specifically plead factual assertions relating to claims by T.F., B.C., and A.L., as alleged

against Defendant Cathcart.   Likewise, there is but one stated allegation against Defendant

Cathcart as it relates to Plaintiff D.H.:

253. When asked about the decision to send D.H. into solitary confinement,
Defendants Simons, Cathcart, and Steward gave contradictory
explanations, neither of which were based on North Unit’s policy that
only those who demonstrated actual harm or imminent risk of [sic]
harm to self or others could be placed in a North Unit isolation cell. 

To be clear, the Amended Complaint asserts:

49. Under the direction of Defendants Simons, Woodside staff members,
including Defendants Cathcart, Hatin, Piette, Bunnell, Dubuc, Brice,
Weiner, Martinez, and Rochon, would apply rotational pressure to a
juvenile’s joints, including wrists, shoulders, and knees, and
hyperextend shoulder and rotator cuff muscle groups.

  
Plaintiffs assert this technique, as introduced allegedly by Defendant Simons, would

sometimes cause pain and “could lead to swelling” and a “possibility of limited range of

motion.”  ¶ 51.  At no point in the Amended Complaint does any Plaintiff assert this tactic
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was specifically used by Defendant Cathcart.  T.F., B.C., D.H., and A.L., make no such

allegation.

The Amended Complaint does not allege that Defendant Cathcart was responsible, at

any time, for the supervision, management, evaluation or discipline of other personnel

working at Woodside.  Plaintiffs do not allege Defendant Cathcart had any ability or authority

to adopt rules, policies, procedures or general practices governing the juveniles at Woodside.  

The Court is without any factual content involving actions of Defendant Cathcart with

these Plaintiffs.   Given in each Factual Background section specific Defendants and actions

are clearly named, where the Amended Complaint is silent as to Defendant Cathcart’s actions

or involvement the Court is unable to reasonably infer claims giving rise to relief.  Moreover,

Defendant Cathcart is without any fair notice of the claims against him which would enable

him to answer and prepare for trial. 

Nowhere in the Factual Background of  T.F., B.C., D.H., and A.L, are actions or

omissions of Defendant Cathcart described, which would detail specific personal involvement

by Defendant Cathcart in his own individual actions which were in violation of constitutional

protections.  Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678.   These Plaintiffs do not state any “statement of

circumstances, occurrences, and events in support of the claim presented”.  See,  C. WRIGHT & A.

MILLER, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1202, at 94-95 (3d ed.2004).   There is no statement

of a plausible claim against Defendant Cathcart by these named Plaintiffs.  Simply identifying

Defendant William Cathcart as a “staff member and assistant director at Woodside Juvenile

Rehabilitation Center in Essex” is not enough under the parameters of F.R.C.P. 8(a)(2) and

12(b)(6) to give rise to any reasonable inferences entitling Plaintiffs to relief.  For these
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reasons, any and all claims asserted by T.F., B.C., D.H., and A.L. against Defendant Cathcart

must be dismissed.  

II. Plaintiffs fail to allege facts supportive of the claims set forth in Count 
One as the Eighth Amendment is not applicable as it relates to any 
assertions against Defendant Cathcart such that Count One must be 
dismissed.

  This Count must be dismissed as it relates to Defendant Cathcart as the Eighth

Amendment is inapplicable in this case as these juveniles were being held in noncriminal

custody.  Plaintiffs assert the Defendants were “vested with control over the custody and care

of Plaintiffs”, in this case juveniles.  ¶ 496 .   The only mention of any “adjudication” in the

Amended Complaint is asserted in the claims by B.C. in paragraph 432, and 433 indicating

B.C. was “imprisoned” and subjected to improper physical restraints and solitary confinement.

There are no factual allegations against Defendant Cathcart as set forth in B.C.’s claims, and

her claims are ripe for dismissal as outlined in Section I.  For all other Plaintiffs there is no

assertion of criminal custody, rather juvenile detention; accordingly, the Eighth Amendment

claims do not give rise to any right of relief on the part of Plaintiffs as to Defendant Cathcart. 

The Eighth Amendment “was designed to protect those convicted of crimes, and

consequently the [Cruel and Unusual Punishment] clause applies ‘only after the State has

complied with the constitutional guarantees traditionally associated with criminal

prosecutions.’ ” Whitley v. Albers, 475 U.S. 312, 318 (1986)(quoting Ingraham v. Wright,

430 US. 651, 671 n. 40 (1977).  Generally, “juveniles”, when they are held, are held in

noncriminal custody; they are persons civilly committed without the full panoply of

protections attendant upon a criminal trial.”  Pena v. New York State Div. For Youth, 419

F.Supp. 203, 206 (S.D.N.Y. 1976).  Similarly, placement in the custody of state services such
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as Woodside is not meant as punishment, but rather, to provide guidance and rehabilitation. 

See Kent v. United States, 383 U.S. 541, 554 (1966); Pena, 419 F.Supp. at 206.  

Therefore, the Eighth Amendment ban on cruel and unusual punishment is

inapplicable in this case.  Plaintiffs’ claims of violation pursuant to the Eighth Amendment

are legally deficient on their face and must be dismissed.  

III. Plaintiffs in Count Two allege no facts specific to Defendant Cathcart which 
would give rise to a reasonable inference he violated the Eighth Amendment and 
Fourteenth Amendment’s ban on the use of excessive force, pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
§1983 thus dismissal is required. 

As noted above, Plaintiffs’ claim of a violation of the Eighth Amendment is not

supported as Plaintiffs were held in juvenile custody and the Eighth Amendment is

inapplicable.  Jackson v. Johnson, 118 F.Supp.2d  278 (2000).   

The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment includes an individual’s

freedom from unreasonable bodily restraint.  Youngberg v. Romeo, 457 U.S. 307, 316 (1982). 

 This applies to excessive force claims brought under the Fourteenth Amendment.  Hudson v.

McMillan, 503 U.S. 1(1992); United States v. Walsh, 194 F.3d 37, 48 (2d Cir. 1999).   It is

well settled that “personal involvement of defendants in alleged constitutional deprivations is

a prerequisite to an award of damages under § 1983.” Wright v. Smith, 21 F.3d 496, 501 (2d

Cir. 1994).    The section 1983 plaintiff must “allege a tangible connection between the acts of

the defendant and the injuries suffered. ” Bass v. Jackson, 790 F.2d 260, 263 (2d Cir. 1986)

The core inquiry by the Court in excessive force cases is “whether force was applied in

a good-faith effort to maintain or restore discipline, or maliciously and sadistically to cause

harm.” Hudson, 503 at 7.   This inquiry includes a determination of several factors:  “[T]he

need for application of force, the relationship between that need and the amount of force used,
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the threat ‘reasonably perceived by the responsible officials,’ and ‘any efforts made to temper

the severity of a forceful response.’ ” Id. (quoting Whitley v. Alberts, 475 U.S. 312, 321

(1986)).  The extent of injury is another factor to consider which “may suggest ‘whether the

use of force could plausibly have been thought necessary’ in a particular situation, ‘or instead

evinced such wantonness with respect to the unjustified infliction of harm as is tantamount to

a knowing willingness that it occur.’ ” Id. (quoting Whitley, 475 U.S. at 321, 106 S.Ct. 1078).  

Additional factors include any effort to temper or limit the amount of force; the severity of the

security problem at issue; and whether the plaintiff was actively resisting.  Kingsley v.

Hendrickson, 576 U.S. 389, 397 (2015).   Excessive force claims must show objectively 

“conscience-shocking” action by the Defendant. Johnson v. Newburgh Enlarged School

Dist., 239 F.3d 246, 252 (2d Cir. 2001).    Where the assertions of the use of force by

Defendants were  “de minimis, necessary, appropriate, and benign,” a claim of excessive force

under the Fourteenth Amendment should not stand. Id.   Specific actions pled as “unprovoked

pushing, punching, and kicking”, verbal abuse, violent pushing, and distinct physical injury

are absent in this Amended Complaint, and not pled by Plaintiffs, nor are they alleged against

Defendant Cathcart. See D. K. v. L.K. Teams, 260 F.Supp.3d 334, 355-357 (S.D. New York

2017)(offering specific detail as to staff actions against residents which gave rise to claims of

excessive force which shocked the conscience).  

Plaintiffs specifically allege:

¶ 31. Because children detained at Woodside were in the custody of DCF, all of
these defendants had a “special relationship” with G.W., R.H., T.W., B.C.,
T.F., A.L., and D.H.

¶ 32. Because of the defendants’ “special relationship” with their wards held at
Woodside, each of them had a constitutional duty enforceable through the Due
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Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution
to protect  G.W., R.H., T.W., B.C., T.F., A.L., and D.H. from harm, including
physical abuse, excessive force, and solitary confinement in the North Unit. 

¶ 33. Defendants Schatz, Shea, Wolcott, Gooley, Simons, Steward, Bunnell,

Dubuc, Cathcart, Scrubb, Hatin, Weiner, Martinez, Ruggles, Piette,

Rochon, Dale, D’Amico, Hamlin, and Brice, either directly participated

in the physical abuse of G.W., R.H., T.W., B.C., T. F., A.L., and D.H.,

and the use of solitary confinement, and/or failed to fulfill their

constitutional obligation to protect G.W., R.H., T.W., B.C., T. F., A.L.,

and D.H., from these abusive and reprehensible practices.  

¶49. Under the direction of Defendants Simons, Woodside staff members, including

Defendants Cathcart, Hatin, Piette, Bunnell, Dubuc, Brice, Weiner, Martinez,

and Rochon, would apply rotational pressure to a juvenile’s joints, including

wrists, shoulders, and knees, and hyperextend shoulder and rotator cuff muscle

groups.  

Plaintiffs also assert Defendants, including Cathcart did not make “any serious effort

to prevent” the alleged abuse, “thus violating their constitutional obligation to protect”

Woodside residents.  ¶¶ 393-394.  Plaintiffs assert a “failure to fulfill their constitutional

duty,” to insure safety, and “detect and correct problems”. ¶¶ 502, 505, 507-508.   Plaintiffs

G.W., R.H., T.W. and R.H., are the sole Plaintiffs who incorporated any factual assertions

involving Defendant Cathcart.  As will be demonstrated below, for each such Plaintiff there

are insufficient facts pled as to the details of specific actions and personal involvement by

Defendant Cathcart.  Instead, there are merely conclusory allegations which do not offer the

specificity to state a Fourteenth Amendment claim for excessive force, accordingly, dismissal

pursuant to F.R.C.P 12(b)(6) is appropriate.  

a. Claims asserted by D.H. 

The majority of factual allegations involving D.H. relate to his transfer and residence

at Natchez Trace Youth Academy.  Plaintiffs make no assertion Defendant Cathcart was in
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any way involved in this Academy, and do not include him in Count Four pertaining

specifically to this location. The sole allegation by Plaintiff D.H. involving Defendant

Cathcart is that he and others “gave contradictory explanations” regarding why D.H. was

placed in solitary confinement in the North Unit, resulting in a grievance filed with Woodside

by D.H..¶ 253.  The Amended Complaint indicates D.H. had purported engaged in “disruptive

and annoying behavior”, but that the decision to send D.H. to solitary confinement was “not in

line with applicable policy”. ¶¶ 251, 248.  Neither the behaviors, nor the applicable policy are

specifically defined in the Amended Complaint.  Absent from the facts allege is any assertion

of “force”, much less “excessive force” personally by Defendant Cathcart.  There is no

assertion of physical injury alleged.   There is nothing more than a bare assertion that

Defendant Cathcart made a “contradictory explanation”.  Plaintiff D.H. does not provide any

facts which would support an inference that Defendant Cathcart failed to “detect and correct”

problems that could cause injury to this Plaintiff, such that Plaintiff’s constitutional rights

were violated.  ¶ 508. 

There is no factual content plead in the sections involving D.H., as it relates to

Defendant Cathcart that offer anything more than a “sheer possibility” he acted unlawfully,

therefore dismissal is appropriate.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (2009).   

b.  Claims asserted by Plaintiff R.H. 

Plaintiff R.H. asserts he was “restrained on the bed, and stripped of all 

of his belongings” in part, by Defendant Cathcart, on April 17, 2018.  ¶ 271.   The factual

allegations detail other events occurring on other days involving Plaintiff R.H., without

mention of Defendant Cathcart.  See generally ¶¶ 266, 272-279, 299-303.  There is no
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assertion in those paragraphs of any degree of personal involvement and personal contact by

Defendant Cathcart beyond those alleged occurring on April 17, 2018.   Plaintiff R.H. asserts

through counsel a request was made to Defendant Cathcart to “pair” R.H. with different staff

members, and the alleged refusal to do so amounted to a violation of a constitutional duty. 

Plaintiff R.H., does not allege the factual basis to support that Defendant Cathcart was

responsible, authorized, or able to take such suggestion, much less act upon it.   Plaintiff R. H.

does not allege facts which amount to an obligation by Defendant Cathcart to “detect and

correct” any problems. 

As it relates to the claims of excessive force which violated the Fourteenth

Amendment, the Court’s inquiry is “whether the force was applied in a good-faith effort to

maintain or restore discipline, or maliciously and sadistically to cause harm.”  Hudson, 503 at

7.   There are no facts alleged which evidence “conscience-shocking” personal action(s) by

Defendant Cathcart which if accepted as true which give rise to a legally viable claim of

excessive force as it relates to Plaintiff R.H. 

c. Claims asserted by Plaintiff T.W.

Plaintiff T.W. alleges Defendant Cathcart initiated requests and /or received requests

to and from other Defendants to place T.W. in seclusion on certain dates in 2018.  ¶¶ 313-314. 

As it relates to Defendant Cathcart specifically, it is alleged on May 26, 2018, Defendant

Cathcart was one of three whom “restrained” and “escorted her to her room.” ¶ 328.  The

Amended Complaint does not allege any of the particular facts and circumstances leading up

to this specific allegation of restraint.  Nor does not offer any facts outlining behaviors by

Plaintiff T.W. which may have led Defendant Cathcart and others to believe it was necessary
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to restrain her for her own safety, or the safety of other residents or staff.   There is no factual

allegations detailing the “need for the application of force, the relationship between the need

and the amount of force used, and the threat “reasonably perceived by the responsible

officials”.  Hudson, 503 at 7 (quoting Whitley v. Alberts, 475 U.S. at 321).   Moreover, there

is no assertion of physical injury resulting from the alleged restraint and escorting event cited

in the Amended Complaint.  At best, Plaintiff T.W. makes conclusory complaints which lack

specificity to trigger a Fourteenth Amendment claim for excessive force.  

Assuming all of the allegations involving Plaintiff T.W. and Defendant Cathcart are

true, there are no facts supportive  of excessive force and/or “conscience-shocking” behavior

which would allow the Court to reasonably infer a claim of relief beyond mere speculation.  

 d. Claims asserted by Plaintiff G.W. 

Plaintiff G.W. asserts on or about June 4, 2019, Defendant Cathcart was one of several

Defendants to enter her isolation cell and put a smock on her.  ¶ 355.  Defendant Cathcart is

alleged to have watched while other Defendants placed G.W. face down on the bed platform,

while holding a smock in his hands. ¶ 357.   While the Amended Complaint asserts the

Defendants “forcibly” removed her clothes, there is no specific discussion of the force used,

nor is there any assertion of the extent of injury.  Kingsley v. Hendrickson, 576 U.S. at 397. 

There is no assertion of the events and circumstances giving rise to the “security” problem,

nor whether these Defendants were protecting Plaintiff G.W. from harming herself.  Plaintiff

G.W. does acknowledge a female staff member found a screw in her bra upon search.  ¶ 367.  

On the same day, it is further alleged G.W. is “surrounded” by Defendants including

Defendant Cathcart at the top of a stairway.  ¶ 359. Defendant Cathcart is alleged to assist in
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carrying G.W. down the stairway and placing handcuffs on her. ¶¶ 362-363.   She is then

picked up “by her arms and legs” and carried down the hall while she is screaming “my neck “

and “no”.   ¶ 364.  She alleges Defendant Cathcart, with others, dragged her by her arms into

the room, then uncuffed her.  ¶¶ 365-366.  Plaintiff G.W. asserts an event occurring on June

18, 2018 wherein Defendant Cathcart is involved in pressing a riot shield against her chest

and face, and removing her blanket and smock, leaving her naked on the cell floor.  ¶¶ 368-

373.   

Plaintiff G.W. asserts events occurring on June 27 and 28, 2019 wherein a video

shows Defendant Cathcart and others “confronting” her by her cell door, covered in feces. ¶¶

377, 380.   Plaintiff G.W. offers no explanation about the facts and circumstances leading up

to the confrontation.   Defendant Cathcart is described as “grappling” with G.W. while she is

naked, and putting hands on to “escort” her to her room.  Id.   The Amended Complaint is

devoid of the facts and circumstances leading up to these events.    Plaintiff makes no

assertion these actions were “unprovoked”, nor resulted in specific physical injury.  D.K. v.

L.K. Teams, 260 F.Supp.3d 334, 355-357 (S.D. New York 2017). 

There are other allegations involving the confinement of Plaintiff G.W. between 2016

and 2019 alleged in the Amended Complaint, however, none of these assert personal

involvement by Defendant Cathcart.  ¶¶ 335-354, 381-389.  

Even assuming these facts as plead to be true, Plaintiffs do not allege facts which

would reasonably allow this Court to infer Defendant Cathcart acted “maliciously or

sadistically” with the design of causing harm to Plaintiffs.  Johnson v. Glick, 481 F.2d 1028,

1033 (2d Cir. 1973), partially abrogated on other grounds by Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S.
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386 (1989).   The allegations against Defendant Cathcart could not possibly be construed as

“power arbitrarily and oppressively exercised.” Daniels v. Williams, 474 U.S. 327, 331

(1986).  There are no facts alleged which support Defendant Cathcart used force in a manner

that was objectively unreasonable.  Further, Plaintiff G.W. fails to allege any facts specific to

her claim that Defendant Cathcart failed to intervene or otherwise did not “detect and correct”

alleged problems.    See Pettus v. Morgenthau, 554 F.3d 293, 300 (2d Cir. 2009) (vague and

conclusory allegations that a supervisor has failed to properly monitor the actions of

subordinate employees do not suffice to establish the requisite personal involvement and

support a finding of liability).

Accepting Plaintiffs’ factual allegations as true, there is no plausible claim for relief

beyond the mere possibility of misconduct by Defendant Cathcart as it relates to the claims for

Constitutional violations of excessive force and “conscience-shocking” behavior, dismissal is

appropriate.

IV. Plaintiffs allege no facts against Defendant Cathcart in Count Three which would
allow the Court to reasonably infer a Constitutional violation of any Plaintiffs’ 
life, liberty or property without due process,  this Count must be dismissed.

An individual’s Fourteenth Amendment substantive due process rights are implicated

“when the State by the affirmative exercise of its power so restrains an individual’s liberty that

it renders him unable to care for himself, and at the same time fails to provide for his basic

human needs - e.g., food, clothing, shelter, medical care, and reasonable safety.”  DeShaney v.

Winnebago Cty. Dept. of Social Services, 489 U.S. 189, 200 (1989).   To maintain a

procedural due process claim properly, a plaintiff must allege facts showing that governmental

action deprived plaintiff of a property interest protected by the Fourteenth Amendment.
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LaFlamme v. Essex Junction Sch. Dist., 170 Vt. 475, 480 (2000).   Due process is violated

only when the conduct can be characterized as “arbitrary, or conscience shocking, in a

constitutional sense.”  Edrei v. Maguire, 892 F.3d 525, 536 (2d Cir. 2018).  “[P]urposeful,

knowing or (perhaps) reckless action that uses an objectively unreasonable degree of force is

conscience shocking.”  Edrei, 892 F.3d at 536.   Section 1983 provides redress for a

deprivation of federally protected rights by persons acting under color of state law. 42 U.S.C.

§ 1983. To prevail on a § 1983 claim, a plaintiff must establish (1) the violation of a right,

privilege, or immunity secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States; and (2) by a

person acting under the color of state law. West v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 42, 48 (1988); Flagg

Bros., Inc., v. Brooks, 436 U.S. 149, 155–56 (1978).  When sued in his individual capacity

the defendant must be personally involved in the claimed violation.  “To proximately cause a

... due process violation ... a defendant must be personally involved in the violation.” Warren

v. Pataki, 823 F.3d 125, 136 (2d Cir. 2016) .  Plaintiffs must plead and prove “that each

Government-official defendant, through the official's own individual actions, has violated the

Constitution.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 676.  

Plaintiffs in this Count assert Defendants “confined, restrained, treated, and punished”

them, and that such actions were “excessive, done with actual malice toward Plaintiffs, and

with willful and wanton indifference to, and deliberate disregard for human life and the

constitutional rights of Plaintiffs.”  ¶¶ 516-517.   This Count is again presumed to arise from

the allegation of confinement and physical or bodily restraint as a violation of Plaintiffs’

liberty interests, in addition to the vague claim of failure of Defendants to intervene and

“detect and correct”.  The residents of Woodside are confined by the State and their ability to
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act on their own behalf is limited.  The Constitution requires Vermont meet the basic needs of

safety, treatment and care.  Langley v. Coughlin, 715 F.Supp. 522, 539 (S.D.N.Y. 1989). 

These interests “are not absolute; indeed to some extent they are in conflict.”  Youngberg, 457

U.S. at 319-320.    Woodside qualifies as that “institution” in which “it is necessary for the

State to restrain the movement of residents  - for example, to protect them as well as others

from violence.”  Youngberg, 457 U.S. 320.  Further, such detainees cannot be “punished” but

any restrictions on liberty must be reasonably related to “legitimate government objectives and

not tantamount to punishment.”  Youngberg, 457 U.S. at 320 , citing Bell v. Wolfish, 441

U.S. 520 (1979).   Youngberg, which dealt with an involuntarily committed adult, highlighted

the necessary balance between the legitimate interests of the State and the individual’s rights

noting: 

The Constitution only requires that the courts make certain that
professional judgment in fact was exercised.  It is not
appropriate for the courts to specify which of several
professionally acceptable choices should have been made. 
Youngberg, 457 U.S. at 323 (citing [the lower court]).  

The decisions by the professionals, here Defendant Cathcart, are presumed to be valid. 

Liability is imposed only:

When the decision by the professional is such a substantial
departure from accepted professional judgment, practice, or
standards as to demonstrate that the person responsible actually
did not base the decision on such a judgment. 

Youngberg, 457 U.S. at 323.

Plaintiffs do not specifically allege actions by Defendant Cathcart which would

indicate a substantive departure from accepted professional judgment, practice or standards. 

Plaintiffs do not allege Defendant Cathcart, by his own individual actions,  violated the
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Constitution, nor their constitutionally protected interests.  Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint is

without any conduct that can be characterized as arbitrary or conscience shocking.  Edrei,

supra. 

Plaintiffs assert Defendant Simons introduced a use-of-force system to the staff at

Woodside.  ¶¶ 48-51.   Plaintiffs complain the noted use-of-force system was “contrary to

national standards and Vermont law”.  ¶ 51 .   Plaintiffs do not specifically state Defendant

Cathcart utilized, or was even personally involved, this use-of-force system on any Plaintiff

resulting in injury or damage.   As noted in Sections I and II, no claims are alleged by

Plaintiffs T.F., D.H., B.C. and A.L. against Defendant Cathcart.  Moreover, as detailed in

Section II, those facts alleged by each Plaintiff relating to Defendant Cathcart assert nothing

more than vague and conclusory statements regarding conduct by Defendant Cathcart. None

of the conduct asserted shows a substantial departure in the professional judgment, practice

and standards as to demonstrate that Defendant Cathcart actually did not base any decisions

on such a judgment.  Youngberg, 457 U.S. at 323.   Plaintiffs do not allege facts, nor factual

content, which would allow the Court to infer professional judgment in the application of this

use-of-force system was not exercised.   Nor do Plaintiffs assert facts which would allow the

Court to conclude Defendant Cathcart utilized such use-of-force system as “punishment”.   

Similarly, Plaintiffs assert isolation and seclusion, in certain circumstances was

“inappropriate”.    While the use of this system and isolation/seclusion may have been

“contrary” to national standards, there are no facts alleged with which the Court can infer

Defendant Cathcart acted in a manner that was a “substantial departure from accepted

professional judgment, practice or standards” such that he did not base any alleged decision(s)
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on such a judgment.  Youngberg, 457 U.S. at 323.       

The need to protect Plaintiffs, other juveniles, and staff, is a “legitimate government

objective”.   In the absence of any pled facts which would allow the Court to infer actions

taken amount to “punishment” or otherwise “arbitrary” or “conscience-shocking” behavior,

Plaintiffs failed to plead deprivation of a “fundamental liberty interest” and further Plaintiffs

fail to allege personal involvement in any action by Defendant Cathcart of such behavior,

accordingly dismissal is appropriate pursuant to F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6).  

V. As Plaintiffs make no factual allegations against Defendant Cathcart 
directly with regard to actions at the Natchez Trace Youth Academy 
Count Four must be dismissed. 

This Count should be summarily dismissed as it relates to Defendant Cathcart.  

Neither paragraphs 168 through 185, nor the allegations set forth in Count Four, paragraphs

518 through 523, mention Defendant Cathcart nor actions made by Defendant Cathcart, nor

do they pertain to any specifically named Plaintiff  whom alleged wrongdoing by Defendant

Cathcart - namely G.W., R.H., T.W., and D.H..  Accordingly, Count Four as it relates to

Defendant Cathcart should be dismissed.   

VI. Plaintiffs R.H. and T.F. allege no facts in Counts Five which give rise to a right of
relief against Defendant Cathcart.

Plaintiffs assert a violation of the First Amendment’s Right to Petition the

Government for a Redress of Grievances by R.H. and T.F..   Nowhere in the Amended

Complaint do these Plaintiffs allege facts which would give rise to a right of relief against

Defendant Cathcart.  See ¶¶ 255-310 and 396-428.    The one exception is paragraph 271

wherein it is alleged Defendant Cathcart, with other Defendants, enters R.H.’s room,

restrained him, and removed his belongings from the room.  In the absence of specific facts
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from which the Court can conclude a reasonable inference of a violation of rights, there is no

legal relief the Court can grant on this claim as it relates to Defendant Cathcart. Accordingly,

dismissal of these claims is appropriate under F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6).

VII. Count Six must be dismissed as it relates to Defendant Cathcart as Plaintiffs have
failed to allege any claim for supervisory liability against him. 

Similar to the assertions in Count Four and Five, Plaintiffs make no allegation of 

violations by Defendant Cathcart in this Count, therefore dismissal is warranted. 

VIII. Plaintiffs’ state claim in Count Seven for assault and battery must be dismissed 
as there is no factual allegation to support Defendant Cathcart 
intentionally engaged in physical contact with any Plaintiff.

Plaintiffs assert in this Count assault and battery arising from allegations of placement

in isolation in the North Unit and physical assault by Defendants.  This Count does not name

any specific Plaintiff or Defendant, nor does it specifically detail the “damage” resulting.   The

tort of assault and battery in Vermont requires a finding of intent.  Wilson v. Smith, 144 Vt.

358 (1984).  A “battery” is an intentional wrongful physical contact with another person

without consent.’ ” Girden v. Sandals Int'l, 262 F.3d 195, 203 (2d Cir. 2001) (quoting United

Nat'l Ins. Co. v. Waterfront N.Y. Realty Corp., 994 F.2d 105, 108 (2d Cir. 1993).  “In the

civil context, the common meanings of ‘assault’ and ‘battery’ subsume all forms of tortious

menacing and unwanted touching. ’ ” Girden, 262 F.3d at 203. (quoting United Nat'l Ins.

Co., 994 F.2d at 108).  

Plaintiffs offer no facts which would give rise to a reasonable inference that Defendant

Cathcart acted to intentionally cause physical contact without consent toward any Plaintiff. 

Even those instances alleged (described in Section II as it relates to the specific Plaintiffs’

allegations) wherein Defendant Cathcart had any physical contact with selected Plaintiffs,
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there is no support for a claim that such contact was “tortious menacing” or “unwanted

touching”.    These statements do not permit the Court to infer anything more than a “mere

possibility of misconduct”, nor do they allow the court to reasonably infer the intent needed to

satisfy the tort of battery, thus on the face of the Complaint Plaintiffs have failed to show they

are entitled to relief.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 679, citing F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6). 

IX. Plaintiffs’ allegations do not demonstrate intentional outrageous conduct 
on the part of Defendant Cathcart which would give rise to any reasonable 
inference of Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress therefore dismissal is 
required. 

In Count Eight, Plaintiffs allege Defendant Cathcart “intended to cause emotional

distress to Plaintiffs or acted in reckless disregard of the “probably of causing emotional

distress to Plaintiffs.”  The elements of an IIED claim are: "(1) conduct that is extreme and

outrageous, (2) conduct that is intentional or reckless, and (3) conduct that causes severe

emotional distress." Thayer v. Herdt, 155 Vt. 448, 455 (1990). "An IIED claim can be

sustained only where the plaintiff demonstrates ‘outrageous conduct, done intentionally or

with reckless disregard of the probability of causing emotional distress, resulting in the

suffering of extreme emotional distress, actually or proximately caused by the outrageous

conduct.’ " Colby v. Umbrella, Inc., 2008 VT 20, ¶ 10, 184 Vt. 1 (quoting Boulton v. CLD

Consulting Eng'rs, Inc., 175 Vt. 413, 427 (2003)), Denton v. Chittenden Bank, 163 Vt. 62,

66 (1994).

The burden on one asserting the claim to prove outrageous conduct is "a heavy one." 

Denton, 163 Vt. at 66.  The claimed actor’s conduct must be outrageous, atrocious and utterly

intolerable.  Id.  The conduct must be so extreme in degree as to go beyond all possible

bounds of decent and tolerable conduct in a civilized community.  The standard for
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outrageousness is objective. Therefore, the alleged conduct must be assessed with an objective

standard based on the alleged actions and words, not on what the complaining party personally

believed motivated the alleged conduct.  Cate v. City of Burlington, 2013 VT 64, ¶ 28

(emphasis added).  The Court determines, as a threshold matter, whether the trier of fact could

reasonably find that the alleged conduct was extreme and outrageous.  Denton, supra. 

The Vermont Supreme Court has refused to hold that an Intentional Infliction of

Emotional Distress claim can arise from a series of less-than-outrageous acts. Fromson v.

State, 176 Vt. 395, 401 (2004); Dulude v. Fletcher Allen Health Care, Inc., 174 Vt. 74, 84

(2002).  "A string of individually unactionable events cannot be taken together to establish a

prima facie case of IIED."  Fernot v. Crafts Inn, 895 F.Supp. 668, 684 (D.Vt. 1995). The

rationale for this rule, as described in Denton, is that one cannot be on notice as to what in a

series of offensive-but-not-outrageous actions crosses a line into the realm of outrage.  A party

cannot combine a series of events without showing a significant outrageous act.  Fromson, Id. 

In this case, Plaintiffs allege the “confinement, restraint, treatment and punishment”

were so outrageous and extreme as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency.  ¶ 550. 

Further, they allege the Defendants intended to cause or alternatively acted in reckless

disregard of the probability of causing emotional distress by repeatedly placing Plaintiffs in

insolation and restraining them was “outrageous” to the extent it caused Plaintiffs to suffer

from extreme emotional distress.  ¶¶ 551-552.  Even assuming this conduct could be

identified as “extreme and outrageous”, which is denied, the Amended Complaint fails to

offer facts of intentional or reckless behavior by Defendant Cathcart such that severe

emotional distress resulted.   Nor is there any fact asserted which offer any support to an
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assertion that Defendant Cathcart acted with “malice”.  ¶ 290.   

The factual allegations do not give rise to an inference by a reasonable person that the

conduct was, in fact, outrageous, nor intentional.  There is nothing more than a general

conclusory allegation, as it relates to Defendant Cathcart, of intentional infliction of emotional

distress which is not sufficient to survive a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6). 

X. Plaintiffs’ make no allegations against Defendant Cathcart in Count Nine. 

In Count Nine Plaintiffs allege “grossly negligent and reckless supervision” and a

breach of the duty of care owed to Plaintiffs.  ¶ 559.  Plaintiffs state a duty of care was owed

“to ensure their custody was reasonably safe and to detect and correct problems that could

cause injury to Plaintiffs.”  ¶ 558.   Similar to the discussion in Counts Four, Five and Six,

Plaintiffs do not assert any specific allegations against Defendant Cathcart and dismissal of

this Count is appropriate. 

CONCLUSION

To survive a 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss, the Amended Complaint must contain

“enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Twombly, 550 U.S. at

570.  Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint as it relates to Defendant Cathcart consists of nothing

more than “threadbare recitals of a cause of action,” “unadorned, the-Defendant-unlawfully-

harmed-me-accusation[s],” or “naked assertion[s] devoid of ‘further factual enhancement.’ ”

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678.  Accordingly, it did not state a plausible claim for relief.  

WHEREFORE, Defendant WILLIAM CATHCART respectfully requests this

Honorable Court dismiss all claims asserted against him by Plaintiffs and for all such other

relief as this Honorable Court deems just and appropriate under the circumstances.  

Page 23 of  24

Case 5:21-cv-00283-gwc   Document 71   Filed 08/15/22   Page 23 of 24



Woodstock
law

43 Lincoln Corners Way,
Suite 103

Woodstock, Vermont 05091
802.457.2123

Dated at Woodstock, Vermont this 15th  day of August 2022.

/s/ Bonnie J. Badgewick                    
Bonnie J. Badgewick, Esq.
WOODSTOCK LAW, PC
43 Lincoln Corners Way, Suite 103
Woodstock, Vermont 05091
802.457.2123 
bbadgewick@woodstockvtlaw.com
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT
WILLIAM CATHCART
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE 

DISTRICT OF VERMONT

CATHY WELCH, ADMINISTRATOR OF THE 
ESTATE OF G.W., R.H., T.W., T.F., 
D.H., B.C., and A.L., by next friend Norma Labounty

Plaintiffs, Civil Docket No. 5:21–cv-00283

v. 

KENNETH SCHATZ, KAREN SHEA, 
CINDY WOLCOTT, BRENDA GOOLEY, 
JAY SIMONS, ARON STEWARD, MARCUS BUNNELL, 
JOHN DUBUC, WILLIAM CATHCART, 
BRYAN SCRUBB, KEVIN HATIN, 
NICHOLAS WEINER, DAVID MARTINEZ, 
CAROL RUGGLES, TIM PIETTE, 
DEVIN ROCHON, AMELIA HARRIMAN, 
EDWIN DALE, MELANIE D’AMICO, 
ERIN LONGCHAMP, CHRISTOPHER HAMLIN, 
and ANTHONY BRICE, all in their individual capacities.

Defendants.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

NOW COMES Bonnie Badgewick, Esq., of the law firm of WOODSTOCK LAW,
PC, attorneys for Defendant WILLIAM CATHCART, and hereby certify that on the 15th day
of August, 2022, I served the attached DEFENDANT WILLIAM CATHCART’S
MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ AMENDED COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO
F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) on the below identified counsel of record via CM/ECF system and e-mail. 
The CM/ECF system will provide service of such filing(s) via Notice of Electronic Filing
(NEF) to the following NEF parties:

bmcarthur@jarvismcarthur.com wmlawrence@tjoslin.com
Brooks G. McArthur, Esq. Wesley Lawrence, Esq. 

dwilliams@jarvismcarthur.com                         acboxer@boxerblake.com
David J. Williams, Esq. Andrew Boxer, Esq.

Mleddy@mcneilvt.com lisawerner@cwf-pc.com
jfarnham@mcneilvt.com susanflynn@cwf-pc.com
Michael Leddy, Esq. Lisa Werner, Esq.
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Joseph Farnham, Esq. Susan Flynn, Esq. 

jalexander@healaw.com icarleton@sheeheyvt.com
rcooley@healaw.com Sheim@sheeheyvt.com
Joe Alexander, Esq. Ian Carleton, Esq.
Robin Cooley, Esq. Sarah Heim, Esq. 

fmb@rsclaw.com
AHM@rsclaw.com
Francesca Bove, Esq.
Andrew Maass, Esq. 
 

Dated at Woodstock, Vermont this 15TH day of August, 2022.

/s/ Bonnie Badgewick                    
Bonnie J. Badgewick, Esq.
WOODSTOCK LAW, PC
43 Lincoln Corners Way, Suite 103
Woodstock, Vermont 05091
802.457.2123 
bbadgewick@woodstockvtlaw.com
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT
WILLIAM CATHCART
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF VERMONT

CATHY WELCH, ADMINISTRATOR 
OF THE ESTATE OF G.W., R.H., T.W., 
T.F., D.H., B.C., and A.L., by Next Friend, Norma Labounty,

Plaintiffs

v. Docket No. 5:21-cv-00283

KENNETH SCHATZ, et. al.
Defendants 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on August 15, 2022, I electronically filed Defendant Jay Simons’ 
Supplemental Motion to Dismiss with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system. 
The CM/ECF system will provide service of such filing via Notice of Electronic Filing 
(NEF) to the following NEF parties:

Brooks G. McArthur, Esq. and David J. Williams, Esq., Lisa M. Werner, Esq.  and 
Susan J. Flynn, Esq., Bonnie J. Badgewick, Esq.,  Andrew C. Boxer, Esq., 
Michael J. Leddy, Esq. and Joseph A. Farnham, Esq., Jon T. Anderson, Esq. and Robin 
Ober Cooley, Esq., Francesca Bove, Esq. and Andrew H. Maass, Esq., Ian P. Carleton, 
Esq., and Brooks G. McArthur, Esq. and David J. Williams, Esq.

Dated at Montpelier, Vermont this 15th day of August, 2022.

/s/ Wesley M. Lawrence
Wesley M. Lawrence
THERIAULT & JOSLIN, P.C.
141 Main Street, Suite 4
Montpelier, VT 05602
Telephone: (802) 223-2381
wmlawrence@tjoslin.com

Attorneys for Defendant, Jay Simons
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE  

DISTRICT OF VERMONT 

 

KATHY WELCH, ADMINISTRATOR ) 

OF THE ESTATE OF G.W., et al.,  )  

      ) 

 Plaintiffs,   )  

      )  

 v.     ) Civil Case No. 5:21-cv-283 

      )    

KENNETH SCHATZ, et al.,   ) 

      ) 

    Defendants.   ) 

 

DEFENDANT MARCUS BUNNELL’S SUPPLEMENTAL MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

 NOW COMES Defendant Marcus Bunnell (“Bunnell”), by and through his attorneys, 

McNeil, Leddy & Sheahan, P.C., pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 

hereby moving to dismiss all claims against him.  Bunnell moves to dismiss in response to 

Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint (Doc. 65), hereby supplements and incorporates herein by 

reference his prior Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 54), and incorporates herein by reference the motions 

to dismiss by other defendants in this action.  Bunnell moves to dismiss on the grounds that 

Plaintiffs have failed to state plausible federal and state law claims against him, he is entitled to 

qualified immunity, and this Court should not exercise supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ 

pendent state law claims. 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint alleges that Defendant Bunnell was “involved” in three 

incidents with G.W. from June 2019.  (Doc. 65 ¶¶ 114, 339-340).  Bunnell is also alleged to have 

been involved with another incident with G.W. on the stairway and in her room.  (Id. ¶¶ 355-

366).  The Amended Complaint also alleges Bunnell was involved in a restraint of T.F. during 

which T.F. was dragged across the floor, Bunnell had a knee on T.F.’s back, and Bunnell 
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punched T.F. in the face.  (Id. ¶¶ 155-158, 402-404, 407-414).  Plaintiffs allege Bunnell was 

involved in a “pressure campaign” against T.F. in an effort to persuade T.F. that Bunnell 

“punched her accidentally.”  (Id. ¶¶ 417-419, 424).  It is also alleged that Bunnell twisted T.W.’s 

arms on May 25, 2018.  (Id. ¶ 323).   

Bunnell is not even mentioned in relation to any claims brought by four of the seven 

Plaintiffs:  R.H., D.H., B.C., and A.L.      

ARGUMENT 

 

I. STANDARD GOVERNING MOTIONS TO DISMISS 

 

 “The standard for reviewing a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is well-known.”  

Wyatt v. City of Barre/Barre City Fire Dep’t, 2012 WL 1435708, *2 (D. Vt. 2012).  “To survive a 

motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a 

claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (internal 

quotation marks omitted).  “Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the 

speculative level on the assumption that all the allegations in the complaint are true (even if 

doubtful in fact).”  Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (citations omitted).  

 “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the 

court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”  

Amaker v. New York State Dep’t of Correctional Services, 435 Fed. Appx. 52, 54 (2d Cir. 2011) 

(internal quotation marks omitted).  This “plausibility standard . . . is guided by [t]wo working 

principles.”  Harris v. Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 72 (2d Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks omitted).  

Citing Twombly, the U.S. Supreme Court explained: 

First, the tenet that a court must accept as true all of the allegations contained in a 

complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusions.  Threadbare recitals of the elements 

of a cause of action, supported by merely conclusory statements, do not suffice. . . .  

Second, only a complaint that states a plausible claim for relief survives a motion 
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to dismiss.  Determining whether a complaint states a plausible claim for relief will 

. . . be a context-specific task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial 

experience and common sense.  But where the well-pleaded facts do not permit the 

court to infer more than the mere possibility of misconduct, the complaint has 

alleged—but it has not show[n]—that the pleader is entitled to relief. 

 

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).  “[W]e do not require 

heightened fact pleading of specifics, but only enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible 

on its face.”  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570.  When plaintiffs “have not nudged their claims across the 

line from conceivable to plausible, their complaint[s] must be dismissed.”  Id. 

II. ALL CLAIMS BY PLAINTIFFS R.H., D.H., B.C., AND A.L. AGAINST 

DEFENDANT BUNNELL MUST BE DISMISSED 

 

Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint contains no allegations from R.H., D.H., B.C. or A.L. 

against Bunnell.  The allegations related to each of these Plaintiffs make no reference to him.  For 

this reason, these Plaintiffs cannot state a plausible claim and the claims of these four Plaintiffs 

must be dismissed as to Defendant Bunnell. 

III. COUNTS FOUR, SIX, AND NINE ARE NOT DIRECTED AT DEFENDANT 

BUNNELL AND THUS SHOULD BE DISMISSED AS TO HIM 

   In their Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs specifically name the individuals against whom 

their causes of action are brought.  While still vaguely plead, the Amended Complaint’s Counts 

Four, Six, and Nine name specific Defendants but omit Defendant Bunnell.  (See Doc. 65 ¶¶ 519, 

539, & 557).  Therefore, because these causes of action cannot reasonably be directed at Bunnell, 

they should be dismissed as to him.   

IV. PLAINTIFFS’ COUNTS ONE, TWO, AND THREE, WHICH MAY BE 

ANALYZED SIMILARLY, NONETHELESS DO NOT STATE A PLAUSBILE 

CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIM AGAINST DEFENDANT BUNNELL 

Plaintiffs’ Counts One, Two, and Three allege constitutional violations under the Eighth 

and Fourteenth Amendments.  Because Plaintiffs in this case were juveniles in non-criminal 
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custody at Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center, these claims may be similarly analyzed 

under the Fourteenth Amendment and its due process requirements.   

“The Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment ‘applies only 

after the State has complied with the constitutional guarantees traditionally associated with 

criminal prosecutions…. [T]he State does not acquire the power to punish with which the Eighth 

Amendment is concerned until after it has secured a formal adjudication of guilt in accordance 

with due process of law.’”  G.B. ex rel. T.B. v. Carrion, No. 09-CV-10582, 2012 WL 13071817, 

*16 n. 27 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 1, 2012) (quoting DeShaney v. Winnebago Cty. Dep’t of Social Servs., 

489 U.S. 189, 199 n.6 (1989)).  “Therefore, the Eighth Amendment ban on cruel and unusual 

punishment is inapplicable in this case.”  Jackson v. Johnson, 118 F. Supp. 2d 278, 287 

(N.D.N.Y. 2000).  As alleged in the Amended Complaint and citing the recently repealed 

Vermont statute 33 V.S.A. § 5801, DCF’s Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center was a facility 

for “adolescents who have been adjudicated or charged with delinquency or criminal act.”  (Doc. 

65, ¶ 38).  Plaintiffs all allege they were detained at Woodside.  (Id. ¶¶ 236, 255, 311, 335, 398, 

433, and 463).  Under Vermont law, an order of the Family Division of the Superior Court in a 

juvenile delinquency proceeding shall not be deemed a conviction of a crime or impose any civil 

disabilities sanctions ordinarily resulting from a conviction.  33 V.S.A. § 5202.  Thus, all 

Plaintiffs were held at Woodside “in non-criminal custody as juveniles.”  G.B. ex rel. T.B. v. 

Carrion, No. 09-CV-10582, 2012 WL 13071817, *16 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 1, 2012) (citing analogous 

New York statute).  Therefore, the Eighth Amendment is inapplicable and Plaintiffs’ claims 

regarding their detention at Woodside are properly analyzed under the Fourteenth Amendment’s 

due process requirements.  Because Plaintiffs allege claims under the Fourteenth Amendment 
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VI. PLAINTIFFS DO NOT STATE PLAUSIBLE STATE LAW CLAIMS 

AGAINST DEFENDANT BUNNELL  

Plaintiffs’ state law claims are insufficiently pled as against Defendant Bunnell.  Plaintiffs 

first assert an assault and battery claim (Count Seven), alleging that a dozen Defendants, 

including Bunnell, “repeatedly placed [Plaintiffs] in isolation cells in the North Unit and 

physically assaulted them.”  (Doc. 65 ¶ 545).  But the only allegations in the Amended Complaint 

pertaining to assault and battery are the claims that Bunnell twisted T.W.’s arm on May 24, 2018, 

and the restraint incident with T.F. on May 27, 2018.  (See id. ¶¶ 323, 402-413).  Even if the 

allegations related to these two incidents would state a claim for assault and battery against 

Bunnell, he is nonetheless entitled to qualified immunity as set forth below.  

Plaintiffs’ Count Eight purports to state a claim for intentional infliction of emotional 

harm (or distress).  To state an IIED claim, Plaintiffs must show “outrageous conduct, done 

intentionally or with reckless disregard of the probability of causing emotional distress, resulting 

in the suffering of extreme emotional distress, actually or proximately caused by the outrageous 

conduct.”  Fromson v. State, 2004 VT 29, ¶ 14, 176 Vt. 395 (internal quotations omitted); see 

also Crowell v. Kirkpatrick, 667 F. Supp. 2d 391, 416 (D. Vt. 2009).  Plaintiffs’ burden is a 

heavy one and requires Plaintiffs to show conduct “so outrageous in character and so extreme in 

degree as to go beyond all possible bounds of decent and tolerable conduct in a civilized 

community and be regarded as atrocious and utterly intolerable.”  Id.  The test for 

outrageousness is objective and the court makes the initial determination as to whether the 

alleged conduct satisfies the test.  Id. at ¶¶ 14-15.   

Bunnell’s alleged actions are not sufficiently extreme and outrageous to constitute IIED.  

The Amended Complaint references two incidents, on June 24 & 27, 2018, where Bunnell is 

alleged to have twisted T.W.’s arm and on the next occasion to have restrained and punched T.F.  
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 DATED at Burlington, Vermont this 15th day of August 2022. 

      McNEIL, LEDDY & SHEAHAN, P.C. 

 

 

     By: /s/ Michael J. Leddy      

      Michael J. Leddy, Esq. 

      271 South Union Street 

      Burlington, VT 05401 

      (802) 863-4531 

      mleddy@mcneilvt.com 

 

 

     By: /s/ Joseph A. Farnham      

      Joseph A. Farnham, Esq. 

      271 South Union Street 

      Burlington, VT 05401 

      (802) 863-4531 

      jfarnham@mcneilvt.com 

 

Attorneys for Defendant Marcus Bunnell 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I hereby certify that on August 15, 2022, I electronically filed Defendant John Dubuc’s 

Supplemental Motion to Dismiss, Defendant Kevin Hatin’s Supplemental Motion to Dismiss and 

Defendant Marcus Bunnell’s Supplemental Motion to Dismiss with the Clerk of Court using the 
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     By: /s/ Michael J. Leddy      

      Michael J. Leddy, Esq. 

      271 South Union Street 

      Burlington, VT 05401 

      (802) 863-4531 

      mleddy@mcneilvt.com 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE  

DISTRICT OF VERMONT 

 

KATHY WELCH, ADMINISTRATOR ) 

OF THE ESTATE OF G.W., et al.,  )  

      ) 

 Plaintiffs,   )  

      )  

 v.     ) Civil Case No. 5:21-cv-283 

      )    

KENNETH SCHATZ, et al.,   ) 

      ) 

    Defendants.   ) 

 

 

DEFENDANT JOHN DUBUC’S SUPPLEMENTAL MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

 NOW COMES Defendant John Dubuc (“Dubuc”), by and through his attorneys, McNeil, 

Leddy & Sheahan, P.C., pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rule of Civil Procedure, hereby 

moving to dismiss all claims against him.  Dubuc moves to dismiss in response to Plaintiffs’ 

Amended Complaint (Doc. 65), hereby supplements and incorporates herein by reference his prior 

Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 55), and incorporates herein by reference the motions to dismiss by other 

defendants in this action.  Dubuc moves to dismiss on the grounds that Plaintiffs have failed to 

state plausible federal and state law claims against him, he is entitled to qualified immunity, and 

this Court should not exercise supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ state law claims. 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

As with their original Complaint, Plaintiffs’ allegations against Dubuc in the Amended 

Complaint are limited.  In amending their pleading, Plaintiffs seek to avoid the “group pleading” 

issue that plagued their original filing by now simply listing all individual defendants targeted by 

each cause of action.  Of the nine causes of action presented, only Counts One, Two, Three, and 
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Eight name and purport to be directed at Defendant Dubuc.  Therefore, Counts Four, Five, Six, 

Seven, and Nine may be readily dismissed as to Dubuc. 

Similarly, two of the Plaintiffs do not assert any allegations against Dubuc – T.F. and 

B.C.  There are no factual allegations in the Amended Complaint connecting these Plaintiffs to 

Dubuc, and therefore all claims by T.F. and B.C. must be dismissed as to Dubuc. 

As for the factual allegations that do reference Dubuc, Plaintiffs allege that on April 18, 

2018, Dubuc was involved in restraining R.H. and cutting his shirt off his body.  (Doc. 65 ¶¶ 77, 

262, 272, 279, 301-303).  Plaintiffs also allege that on May 26, 2018, Dubuc was involved in 

restraining T.W., and that during the incident Dubuc “pushed his fingers into T.W.’s left eye 

orbital socket, leaving a 50-cent size bruise on T.W.’s face.”  (Id. ¶¶ 328-331).  The Amended 

Complaint names Dubuc as one of the employees present during an incident with G.W., where 

Dubuc entered her cell and stood “over her naked body” while two other men restrained G.W.  

(Id. ¶¶ 381-384).  As for Plaintiffs D.H. and A.L., the only allegations related to Dubuc are that 

he “sent an email” about D.H. in the North Unit and that he “ordered A.L. into the North Unit.”  

(Id. ¶¶ 251 & 471).     

ARGUMENT 

 

I. STANDARD GOVERNING MOTIONS TO DISMISS 

 

 “The standard for reviewing a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is well-known.”  

Wyatt v. City of Barre/Barre City Fire Dep’t, 2012 WL 1435708, *2 (D. Vt. 2012).  “To survive a 

motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a 

claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (internal 

quotation marks omitted).  “Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the 
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speculative level on the assumption that all the allegations in the complaint are true (even if 

doubtful in fact).”  Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (citations omitted).  

 “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the 

court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”  

Amaker v. New York State Dep’t of Correctional Services, 435 Fed. Appx. 52, 54 (2d Cir. 2011) 

(internal quotation marks omitted).  This “plausibility standard . . . is guided by [t]wo working 

principles.”  Harris v. Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 72 (2d Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks omitted).  

Citing Twombly, the U.S. Supreme Court explained: 

First, the tenet that a court must accept as true all of the allegations contained in a 

complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusions.  Threadbare recitals of the elements 

of a cause of action, supported by merely conclusory statements, do not suffice. . . .  

Second, only a complaint that states a plausible claim for relief survives a motion 

to dismiss.  Determining whether a complaint states a plausible claim for relief will 

. . . be a context-specific task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial 

experience and common sense.  But where the well-pleaded facts do not permit the 

court to infer more than the mere possibility of misconduct, the complaint has 

alleged—but it has not show[n]—that the pleader is entitled to relief. 

 

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).  “[W]e do not require 

heightened fact pleading of specifics, but only enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible 

on its face.”  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570.  When plaintiffs “have not nudged their claims across the 

line from conceivable to plausible, their complaint[s] must be dismissed.”  Id. 

II. ALL PURPORTED CLAIMS BY PLAINTIFFS T.F. AND B.C. AGAINST 

DEFENDANT DUBUC MUST BE DISMISSED 

 

The Amended Complaint contains no factual allegations from T.F. nor B.C. against 

Defendant Dubuc.  The omission of any reference to Dubuc in relation to these Plaintiffs is fatal 

to their claims against him.  They cannot state a plausible claim for relief absent any allegation of 

his personal involvement.  For this reason, T.F. and B.C.’s claims should be dismissed as to 

Defendant Dubuc. 
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III. COUNTS FOUR, FIVE, SIX, SEVEN, AND NINE ARE NOT DIRECTED AT 

DEFENDANT DUBUC AND THUS SHOULD BE DISMISSED AS TO HIM 

   In their Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs list the names of the individuals against whom 

their causes of action are brought.  In Counts Four, Five, Six, Seven, and Nine, Plaintiffs name 

specific Defendants but omit Defendant Dubuc.  (See Doc. 65 ¶¶ 519, 525, 539, 545, & 557).  

Therefore, because theses causes of action are not directed at Dubuc, they should be dismissed as 

to him.      

IV. PLAINTIFFS’ COUNTS ONE, TWO, AND THREE, WHICH MAY BE 

ANALYZED SIMILARLY, NONETHELESS DO NOT STATE A PLAUSBILE 

CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIM AGAINST DEFENDANT DUBUC 

Plaintiffs’ Counts One, Two, and Three allege constitutional violations under the Eighth 

and Fourteenth Amendments.  Because Plaintiffs in this case were juveniles in non-criminal 

custody at Woodside, these claims may be similarly analyzed under the Fourteenth Amendment 

and its due process requirements.   

“The Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment ‘applies only 

after the State has complied with the constitutional guarantees traditionally associated with 

criminal prosecutions…. [T]he State does not acquire the power to punish with which the Eighth 

Amendment is concerned until after it has secured a formal adjudication of guilt in accordance 

with due process of law.’”  G.B. ex rel. T.B. v. Carrion, No. 09-CV-10582, 2012 WL 13071817, 

*16 n. 27 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 1, 2012) (quoting DeShaney v. Winnebago Cty. Dep’t of Social Servs., 

489 U.S. 189, 199 n.6 (1989)).  “Therefore, the Eighth Amendment ban on cruel and unusual 

punishment is inapplicable in this case.”  Jackson v. Johnson, 118 F. Supp. 2d 278, 287 

(N.D.N.Y. 2000).  As alleged in the Amended Complaint and citing the recently repealed 

Vermont statute 33 V.S.A. § 5801, DCF’s Woodside Juvenile Rehabilitation Center was a facility 

for “adolescents who have been adjudicated or charged with delinquency or criminal act.”  (Doc. 
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and statutory rights, but may include Vermont statutes, regulations and common law.”  Sabia v. 

Neville, 165 Vt. 515, 521 (1996).   

Plaintiffs cannot state that Dubuc violated a clearly established right, nor that he was 

plainly incompetent or knowingly violated the law.  Thus, Defendant Dubuc is entitled to 

dismissal of the claims asserted against him on qualified immunity grounds. 

CONCLUSION 

 

 WHEREFORE, for the reasons stated above, and the reasons for dismissal set forth in the 

other Defendants’ motions, Defendant John Dubuc respectfully requests that this Court dismiss 

with prejudice all of Plaintiffs’ claims against him and dismiss him as a party to this litigation. 

  

DATED at Burlington, Vermont this 15th day of August 2022. 

      McNEIL, LEDDY & SHEAHAN, P.C. 

 

 

     By: /s/ Michael J. Leddy      

      Michael J. Leddy, Esq. 

      271 South Union Street 

      Burlington, VT 05401 

      (802) 863-4531 

      mleddy@mcneilvt.com 

 

 

     By: /s/ Joseph A. Farnham      

      Joseph A. Farnham, Esq. 

      271 South Union Street 

      Burlington, VT 05401 

      (802) 863-4531 

      jfarnham@mcneilvt.com 

 

      Attorneys for Defendant John Dubuc 
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